Present day's standards in microsurgery of low-grade gliomas

L. BELLO, E. FAVA, G. CARRABBA, C. PAPAGNO, and S. M. GAINI

Neurosurgery, Department of Neurological Sciences, Università degli Studi di Milano, Milano, Italy

With 6 Figures and 2 Tables

Contents

| Abstract |
|--|
| Introduction |
| Rationale and indications 110 |
| The brain mapping technique |
| Pre-operative protocol 119 |
| Neuropsychology 119 |
| Imaging and neuroradiology |
| Anesthesiology |
| Intraoperative protocol 124 |
| Anesthesia |
| Neurophysiology |
| Results of the mapping or monitoring procedures |
| Intraoperative imaging |
| Immediate post operative course 140 |
| Functional results of surgery 140 |
| Oncological results of surgery 14 |
| Strategy for large, diffuse or recurrent tumors; |
| the concept of brain plasticity 144 |
| Conclusions and proposal for the future |
| References |

Abstract

Low-grade gliomas are slow growing intrinsic lesions that induces a progressive functional reshaping of the brain. Surgical removal of these lesions requires the combined efforts of a multidisclipinary team of neurosurgeon, neuroradiologist, neuropsychologist, neurophysiologist, and neurooncologists that all together contribute in the definition of the location, extension, and extent of functional involvement that a specific lesion has induced in a particular patient. Each tumor has induced particular and specific changes of the functional network, that varies among patients. This requires that each treatment plan should be tailored to the tumor and to the patient. When this is reached, surgery should be accomplished according to functional and anatomical boundaries, and has to aim to the maximal resection with the maximal patient functional preservation. This can be reached at the time of the initial surgery, depending on the functional organization of the brain, or may require additional surgeries, eventually intermingled with adjuvant treatments. The use of so called brain mapping techniques extend surgical indications, improve extent of resection with greater oncological impact, minimization of morbidity and increase in quality of life. To achieve the goal of a satisfactory tumor resection associated with the full preservation of the patients abilities, a series of neuropsychological, neurophysiological, neuroradiological and intraoperative investigations have to be performed. In this chapter, we will describe the rationale, the indications and the modality for performing a safe and rewarding surgical removal of low-grade gliomas by using these techniques, as well as the functional and oncological results.

Keywords: Low-grade gliomas; brain mapping; fMRI; fiber tracking; neuropsychology.

Introduction

The term low-grade glioma refers to a series of primary brain tumors characterized by benign histology (low proliferation, low neo-angiogenesis phenomena) and aggressive behaviour related to the slowly progressive tendency to invade the normal brain parenchyma [22, 64, 80, 84, 107, 131]. These neoplasms are classified as grade II (out of IV) by the World Health Organization classification of brain tumors and include the following entities: grade II astrocytoma (further divided in fibrillary and protoplasmic), grade II oligoastrocytoma and grade II oligodendroglioma [72, 73]. Pilocytic astrocytomas, or grade I astrocytomas, are occasionally referred to as low-grade gliomas but due to their peculiar behaviour, require separate considerations. In this chapter, the term low-grade glioma will refer only to grade II tumors of the WHO classification.

Low-grade gliomas are slow growing tumors, typically affecting younger individuals (median age 35), mainly males (male/female ratio 1.5) which clinically present with seizures (often partial seizures) [83]. Headache, personality changes and focal neurological deficits represent the other most common symptoms. The neurological symptoms include motor/sensory deficits, dysphasia/aphasia, disinhibition, apathy, visuo-spatial disturbances and others according to the tumor location and size [22, 97, 110]. Interestingly, some authors reported the tendency of low-grade gliomas to occur in eloquent areas or in their proximity [40].

Overall, the median survival of low-grade gliomas is about 10 years and well defined negative prognosticators include older age (more than 40 years old), larger size (more than 5 cm), eloquent location and reduced Karnofsky performance status.

The optimal treatment for low-grade gliomas has yet to be determined. In fact, watchful observation, needle biopsy, open biopsy as well as surgical resection have all been advocated by different authors [10-12, 41, 44, 64, 81, 95, 106, 118, 135]. No evidence of class I, II or even III exists regarding the optimal management of these patients, even if the more modern tendency is to obtain at least some type of tissue diagnosis [67, 130]. Briefly, the rationale behind the observational or "wait and see" policy was the occasionally indolent or very slowly progressive behaviour of these tumors [81, 109, 135]. On the other hand, following the modern oncological concepts, some authors proposed to perform a biopsy in order to have a histopathological confirmation of the nature of the neoplasm before deciding the further management. Surgical resection of low-grade gliomas is still matter of debate but recent studies are increasingly supporting its role [10, 12, 26, 45, 67, 126, 130]. Surgery can in fact achieve multiple aims: first, it allows to obtain a more reliable histological diagnosis with eventually the molecular profile (e.g. 1p/19q loss and MGMT status); second, it permits to relieve symptoms; third, it has a beneficial effect on seizure control; in addition, surgery could decrease the rate of recurrence and of malignant transformation, as confirmed by recent studies [26, 45, 130]. Nevertheless, surgery carries its unavoidable risks, which even though low can potentially and permanently affect the patient quality of life.

Given this general information on low-grade gliomas behaviour and the possibility of treatment, it is clear that a modern surgical approach to low-grade gliomas has the goal to maximally resect the tumor mass, while at the same time minimizing the postoperative morbidity in order to preserve patient's functional integrity [12, 26, 45, 130]. In fact, since the natural history of the tumor can be relatively long (with or without surgery), the conservation of simple and complex neurological functions of the patients is mandatory. To achieve the goal of a satisfactory tumor resection associated with the full preservation of the patients abilities, a series of neuropsychological, neurophysiological, neuroradiological and intraoperative investigations have to be performed. In this chapter, we will describe the rationale, the indications and the modality for performing a safe and rewarding surgical removal of low-grade gliomas.

Rationale and indications

The major aims of surgical treatment are: 1) obtaining adequate specimens and representative tissue to reach a correct histological and molecular diagnosis; 2) achieving a cytoreduction in order to decrease the rate of recurrence and malignant transformation, possibly prolonging survival; 3) improving the neurological symptoms of the patients; 4) obtaining a better seizure control. These goals can be reached by tailoring the surgical approach on the peculiar features of location, modality of growth, and biological behaviour of lowgrade gliomas.

Histological and Molecular Diagnosis: It is well known that astrocytomas or more in general primary brain tumors represent a challenge for the neuropathologist, mainly in the choice of the grading of the tumor. In fact, the specimens available are often not adequate in terms of size (e.g. needle biopsy) or not representative of the tumor to permit an accurate diagnosis. The size or the number of needle biopsy specimens does not always allow to perform all the eventually required immunohistochemical or molecular analysis, reducing the pathologist armamentarium for a correct diagnosis. In addition, the problem of the site of the biopsy can significantly change the final results because gliomas are typically very heterogenous and can have areas with different grades of malignity. Recently, the use proton MR spectroscopy of MR perfusion can partly overcome this last problem, giving informations on the presence of choline peaks (index of membranes production and malignancy) or areas of increased angiogenesis which can guide the surgeon in the decision of the best location for performing the biopsy [23, 50, 57]. In any case, the risk of underestimating, or more rarely overestimating, the grade is a concrete possibility for needle and even open biopsies eventually resulting in significant changes in the choice of the most appropriate treatment for the patients.

Molecular markers have become a standard for the determination of the type of low-grade glioma. In fact, chromosome 1p/19q loss of heterozygosity plays a very important role in the distinction between oligodendrogliomas and astrocytomas or oligoastrocytomas. The relevance of this molecular marker stays not only in the histotype definition but also in the different therapeutic implication [6, 24, 65, 129, 134]. In fact 1p/19q loss, as well as MGMT methylation (another important marker) resulted to be able to predict the response to certain chemotherapeutic agents [24, 48]. Obviously, inadequate or incorrect sampling of the tumor can dramatically impair the possibility of a molecular analysis.

Cytoreduction, Size and Location: Most of low-grade gliomas are localized close or within the so called eloquent areas, such as the areas of the brain which control motor, language or visuospatial functions. In a recent series, as well as in the experience of our group, 82.6% of tumors were located within eloquent motor or language areas (27.3% of cases within the SMA, 25.0% in the insula,

18.9% in language centers, 6.0% in the primary somatosensory area, 4.5% in the primary motor area) [6, 40]. As for the modality of growth, these tumors are characterized by a prevalent diffusive pattern of growth [40, 86]. In fact, groups of tumor cells or single tumor cells diffuse away from the main tumor mass along vessels or short and long white matter tracts [80]. These features are responsible for the typical aspect of low-grade gliomas seen in MR images, which is characterized by a morphology strictly resembling that of white matter tracts along which the tumor grows and diffuses. In addition, despite their occasional apparently indolent behaviour, low-grade gliomas are characterized by a continuous growth, with periods of faster and lower rates of growth during the entire time of the natural history of the tumor [86]. Some authors pointed out that most of the lesions judged as stable, actually did show various degrees of growth, and that minor changes in the diameter (e.g. 1-2 mm) reflect a significant cellular growth in term of volume [86]. For sake of simplicity, the rate of growth of a tumor can be quantified by measuring the maximal diameter onto FLAIR MR images. Repetitive measurement on representative sections demonstrated that the tumor continuously grows and that the mean increase of the tumor diameter is around 4 mm/year. Furthermore, an increase in tumor diameter larger than 8 mm/year, even in the absence of contrast enhancement or modification of T2 or FLAIR images, is associated with a high tendency toward malignant transformation and aggressive biological behaviour [105]. These data stress the point that serial measurements of tumor volumes are an important tool to determine the biological behaviour of the tumor. At the same time, it is clear that tumor volume is an important prognostic factor, able to determine per se the biological behaviour of the tumor overtime. In fact, larger tumor volumes are more frequently associated with a higher risk of malignant transformation and shorter patient survival [130]. Obviously, tumor volume is associated with the risk of developing neurological symptoms, increase in the risk of seizures, and probability of impacting in the social and professional life of patients.

Neurological symptoms: The majority of patients who are diagnosed with lowgrade gliomas usually come to medical attention because of sudden occurrence of seizures [97, 130]. These patients are generally intact at the gross neurological examination, but they frequently present more subtle symptoms affecting complex neurological functions (memory, language, character, visuo-spatial orientation, etc.) which require a specific testing by a neuropsychologist [17, 53, 54, 55, 114]. As will be detailed below, this type of testing is mandatory when considering surgery for this type of lesions because it allows to tailor the intraoperative testing to the patient and permits to finely assess the impact of surgery on the patients superior neurological functions [1, 2, 59, 75, 76, 133].

Those patients who present with frank neurological deficits (e.g. hemiparesis, ataxia, aphasia) are usually candidate to surgery because their symptoms are related to direct mass effect of the tumor on the cortex or on the subcortical white matter tracts. In this case, tumor removal can significantly relieve symptoms depending on the degree of the preoperative impairment as well as on the degree of parenchymal disruption. Obviously, this category of patients carries higher surgical risks in terms of morbidity and mortality than that of neurologically intact patients. Nevertheless, in terms of surgery, the presence of mass effect is a straightforward indication for tumor resection since a waiting policy will quickly bring to further neurological deterioration and even death in a limited span of time.

Seizures: Large tumors and insular locations are usually associated with a higher risk of developing seizures, which are difficult to be controlled by antiepileptic drugs, requiring the administration of multiple medications [25, 60]. Despite poly-therapy, seizure control can still be very poor. In these latter cases, surgery becomes an appealing option to improve seizure control. In fact, it has been clearly shown that surgical resection of low-grade gliomas is associated with a marked improvement in terms of seizures occurrence. In other cases, patients might be severely disabled by the side effects of multiple anti-epileptic medications and again surgery can allow to decrease the drugs administration. It is matter of debate whether surgical resection of low-grade gliomas for seizure control should be performed in an epilepsy surgery setting (with surface and eventually deep electrodes recordings, with resection of all the foci) or in a purely oncologic setting (with neurophysiologic monitoring including electrocorticography, but no deep electrodes and no resection of normal brain foci).

As mentioned above, surgery for gliomas aims to maximally remove the tumor mass and at the same time to preserve patient's functional integrity. This policy applies to the resection of any glioma but more specifically to those located close or within eloquent areas. The concept of eloquence refers not only to those areas which are involved in motor, language or visuospatial functions but also, more widely, to any area affecting the well-being of the individual (e.g. memory, socio-affective behaviour, specific tasks performance, etc.). In all these cases, extensive resection and maximal functional integrity can still be achieved through the intraoperative use of brain mapping techniques [6, 11, 12, 14, 36, 41, 45, 130].

The brain mapping technique

Performing brain mapping requires a series of pre-operative evaluations and intra-operative facilities which involve different specialists. A complete neuropsychological evaluation is generally the first step of the process permitting to select the suitable patients and to individualize the intraoperative testing. Then, sophisticated imaging techniques including fMRI and DTI-FT (Diffuse Tensor Imaging, Fiber tracking techniques) give the opportunity to attentively plan the surgical strategies. In addition, these images can be loaded into the neuronavigation system becoming thus available peri- and intraoperatively for orientation. Intraoperative MR can be used as well, if available. Finally and most importantly, a series of neurophysiological techniques are employed at the time of surgery to precisely guide the surgeon in the tumor removal. These include cortical and subcortical direct electrical stimulation (DES), motor evoked potentials (MEP), multichannel EMG, EEG and ECoG recordings. All these techniques will be detailed in the next paragraphs. For reasons of simplicity, the management protocol will be divided in three parts: pre-operative, perioperative, and post-operative.

Pre-operative protocol

The pre-operative part includes the neuropsychological and neuroradiological evaluation, which complete the standard neurological exam. A neuroanesthesiological evaluation should be performed as well for the selection and preparation of the patients from this perspective.

Neuropsychology

Neuropsychological evaluation is composed of a large number of tests for the assessment of various neurological functions such as the cognitive, emotional, intelligence, and basic language functions. Such a broad spectrum evaluation provides information on how the tumor has impacted on the social, emotional and cognitive life of the patient, who is generally intact at the neurological exam. It is important that the testing is the largest possible because the tumor which grows along fiber tracts, may alter the connectivity between separate areas of the brain, resulting in the impairment of functions which might not be documented in case of a neuropsychological examination limited to the testing of those functions strictly related to the area of the brain in which the tumor has grown [6, 42, 45]. When this extensive testing is administered, some alterations in the aspects of the neuropsychological exams can be documented in more than 90% of the patients [6, 45]. These data represent the baseline toward which the effect of surgical and future treatment should be compared. Additionally, when the tumor involves language or visuospatial areas or pathways, a more extensive specific evaluation should be added. Other than better defining the preoperative status of the patients, the neuropsychological assessment allows to build up a series of tests, composed of various items, which will be used intraoperatively for the evaluation and the brain mapping of various functions, among which memory, language in its various components, and visuospatial orientation are some of the most important. For language evaluation, patients are submitted preoperatively to extensive language testing composed of a battery of tests aimed to evaluate oral language production and comprehension, together with repetition [6, 36, 43, 103].

Table 1. Neuropsychological assessment before and after surgery for low-gradeglioma (Milano battery)

Language examination (BADA): This is a psycholinguistic battery, exploring the sublexical, lexical, and morphosyntactic aspects of language and includes nonword and word repetition, sentence and phrase repetition, phonological discrimination +

Token Test (norms and adjusted score for age and education)

Verbal fluency on phonological and semantic cue (norms and adjusted score for age and education available)

Word comprehension (alternatives of the same semantic category) (48 stimuli) Object picture naming [six semantic categories: living (animals, fruit, vegetables) and non living (cloth, vehicles, tools)] (48 stimuli)

Action Picture Naming (50 stimuli)

Auditory Sentence Comprehension (80 stimuli)

Famous Face Naming (100 stimuli: 50 famous faces and 50 unknown) (norms and adjusted score for age and education available)

Short term memory:

Digit span (norms and adjusted score for age and education available) Digit span backward

Corsi span (norms and adjusted score for age and education)

Assessment of long term memory:

Rey-Osterrieth complex figure test – delayed recall (norms and adjusted score for age and education available)

Prose recall (norms and adjusted score for age and education available)

Rey 15-word list learning (norms and adjusted score for age and education available)

Assessment of executive function and attention:

Verbal fluency on phonological cue (norms and adjusted score for age and education available)

Wisconsin Card Sorting Test (norms and adjusted score for age and education available)

Visual search, Stroop test, Trail making Test (norms and adjusted scores for age and education available)

Weigl Test (norms and adjusted score for age and education available) Gambling Task (in case of frontal lesions)

Apraxia:

Face apraxia test (norms and adjusted score for age and education available) Ideomotor apraxia test (norms and adjusted score for age and education available) Rey-Osterrieth complex figure test – Copy (norms and adjusted score for age and education available)

Assessment of visuo-spatial abilities:

battery of tests like: letter cancellation, line cancellation, star cancellation, line bisection, sentence reading and copying task

Table 1. (continued)

| Line bisection (10 cm–15 cm–25 cm) (norms and adjusted score for age and education |
|--|
| available) |
| Albert Test (norms and adjusted score for age and education available) |
| Diller Test (norms and adjusted score for age and education available) |
| Star Cancellation Test (norms and adjusted score for age and education available) |
| Copying Task |
| Sentence reading |
| Clock Drawing Test |
| |

Hemispheric language dominance is evaluated through the Edinburgh Inventory Questionnaire and fMRI. The following tasks are usually performed: Spontaneous speech; Oral controlled Association by Phonemic Cue; Famous face naming; Object Picture Naming; Action Picture Naming; Word Comprehension; Sentence Comprehension; Transcoding tasks. In addition the Token Test, the digit span, and counting are also performed. Ideomotor apraxia and face apraxia are also assessed. The majority of the tests generally used have been standardized on the normal population. In addition, different tests aimed to study the previous aspects of language can be found and adjusted according to the nationality of the patient. Generally, some tests as the BADA are available in different languages, others have to be normalized to the population. The list of the tests generally used in our center is reported in Table 1. It is important to include in the battery both qualitative and quantitative tests, and normative data must be available for the quantitative procedure. It is also important that a Speech therapist and a (neuro-)psychologist are managing the patients assessments. As mentioned above, preoperative language evaluation is also used to build up a series of tests, composed of various items, which will be used intraoperatively for the assessment of language during surgery. Among these tests, the object naming is probably the most important. In case of tumor located in dominant or parietal areas, number recognition and reading, as well as calculation or writing should be added in the preoperative testing and considered for the intraoperative evaluation [35, 51, 121]. When the patient is bilingual or is speaking more than two languages, it is important to include a large evaluation of the various languages in the preoperative testing [5, 52, 85, 120, 123]. Accordingly, the patient can be defined as early or late bior multi-lingual, depending on the time at which he or she has learned the various languages. In any case, a multi-lingual assessment is generally recommended.

Visuospatial functions are usually evaluated for tumor located in the parietal lobe, generally on the right side [45]. Unilateral spatial neglect is a complex and disabling syndrome that tipically results from right hemisphere damage, and it is characterized by an impairment of awareness of contralesional left half of space, objects and mental images. In this case, the patient is presented with various tests such as the line bisection test or the star cancellation test to evaluate his or her spatial awareness (Table 1).

Imaging and neuroradiology

The neuroradiological examination is composed of basic exams, such as morphological T1, T2, and FLAIR images, as well as post contrast T1 images. These images together with volumetric sequences provide information on the site and location of the tumor, and allow to determine its relationship with various structures, such as major vessels, and to measure tumor volume. Further MR studies include MR spectroscopy, which provides information on the metabolic characteristics of the tumor, and allows to design a map of areas within the tumor in which tumor metabolism is more or less pronounced (multi-pixel MR spectroscopy map) [50, 57]. This is of great help in the tissue sampling at the time of surgery for histological and molecular purposes. In addition, perfusion MR studies are useful for designing perfusion maps, or maps in which the blood flow is depicted in the different tumor areas [8, 32, 79, 92, 93]. Being the regional blood flow dependent on tumor angiogenesis, these maps provide additional and complementary information of the biological behavior of the tumor and help in the tissue collection for histological and molecular purposes at the time of surgery [23]. Metabolic information may be also obtained by performing SPECT or PET, and these data may be incorporated into the navigation system for surgical guidance as well.

The neuroradiological investigations include functional studies, such as fMRI, and anatomic studies such as DTI-FT. The former provides functional information on the location of cortical sites which activates in response to motor tasks, or various language tasks [15]. Motor fMRI is generally used to design a map of the cortical motor sites and to establish their relationship with the tumor [62]. fMRI for language tasks, such as denomination (object naming), verb generation, verbal fluency [121, 124]. All these data are put together to form a complex map of how the various components of language are organized at the cortical level and allow to establish the spatial relationship between these cortical areas of language fMRI is performed with the same tests that are used for language evaluation in order to increase its reliability.

DTI-FT techniques allows to depict the connectivity around and inside a tumor, by reconstructing and visualizing the fiber tracts which run around or inside the tumor mass [4, 21]. DTI FT provides anatomical information on the location of motor tracts, mainly the corticospinal tract and various language tracts [7, 13, 27, 56, 63]. For a better visualization of tracts in low-grade gliomas, a FA (Fraction of Anisotropy) of 0.1 should be used, and additional

ROI for particular tract such as the anterior part of the superior longitudinalis or the SMA portion of the CST can be added [7]. The basic DTI FT map includes the CST for the motor part, and the such as the superior longitudinalis (SLF) which includes the fasciculus arcuatus, and the inferior frontooccipital (IFO) tract for the language part [7, 36, 43]. The SLF is the basic tract involved in the phonologic component of language, the IFO is the basic tract involved in the semantic component of language. Additional tracts that can be reconstructed are the uncinatus (UNC) and the inferior longitudinalis (ILF) tracts, which provide information on the semantic and phonologic component of language in the frontal and temporal lobe, or the subcallosum fasciculus, involved in the phonologic component of language, sited in the lateral border of the lateral ventricle. Generally, preoperative DTI FT show that in low-grade gliomas most of the tracts involved either in language or motor function, are located within the tumor mass, and infiltrated or interrupted by the tumor. Although DTI FT maps are only anatomical and do not provide any functional information, DTI FT map can be used to predict resectability of a tumor. Globally considered, preoperative neuroimaging produces an impressive amount of information concerning the anatomical and functional boundaries of the lesion to be resected. Together with the volumetric morphological images, the DTI-FT images are usually loaded into the neuronavigation system, and help in the perioperative period in performing the resection. However, the imaging gives information based on probabilistic measurements, and although they may have a relatively high sensitivity or specificity, they still carry a certain amount of mistake which cannot, at least nowadays, be considered as sufficient for performing a safe and effective resection. This is the reason why the neuroradiological information loaded into the neuronavigation system has to be always supported during surgery by the results of the brain mapping. In other words, only the intraoperative brain mapping by means of electrical stimulation allows the surgeon to identify functional regions, that may be displaced and infiltrated by the tumor both at a cortical and a subcortical level, and thus to define the strategy of resection in order to maximize the extent of tumor removal while reducing the risks of permanent neurological deficits.

Anesthesiology

Besides the standard anesthesiological work up, the patient should be examined for his or her ability to be submitted to intraoperative awake monitoring when needed. A preparation and selection of the patients by anesthesiologists with expertise in awake surgery is recommended [29, 30]. In our Institution, the only absolute contraindication to awake surgery are the lack of cooperation, patients older than 65 years, or carrying obesity, those with difficult airways or affected by severe cardiovascular or respiratory diseases.

Intraoperative protocol

General policy of the surgical treatment is to remove the maximal amount of tumor and to preserve the functional integrity of the patient. This can be done by removing the tumor according to anatomical and functional boundaries. The anatomical boundaries can be defined by using neuronavigation or intraoperative MR; the functional boundaries can be defined by using neurophysiological, and neuropsychological adjuncts. The intraoperative protocol includes: anesthesia modalities; neurophysiology; neuropsychology; intraoperative imaging (neuronavigation and intraoperative MR).

Anesthesia

The patient can be maintained either awake for the full time of surgery, or awakened for the phase of the surgery during which the mapping is performed [5-7, 29, 30, 35, 36, 46, 127, 130]. Total intravenous anesthesia with propofol and remifentanil is used in our Institution for performing these procedures. In patients requiring only motor mapping, the patient is intubated through the nose and a light surgical anesthesia is maintained throughout the procedure. No muscle relaxants are employed during surgery to allow the neurophysiological assessment. When the language or the visuospatial functions have to be tested during surgery, the patients receive a laryngeal mask, which is maintained till after the craniotomy and dural opening [49]. At this point, the patients are awakened, while adequate analgesia is maintained, to allow functional monitoring. Time for awakening varies between 20 and 50 min, depending on the ability of the patient to metabolize the anesthetics. The anesthesiologist should be able to keep the patient awake for the entire time of subcortical mapping, which may require particularly during long lasting operations, to alternate period of resting with those during which the patient is fully awake and responsive. Patients fatigue is observed in most of the patients, and its appearance correlates with the duration of the mapping, and the difficulties of the testing (extensive language and visuospatial mapping) [5, 47, 50, 137]. Five percent of patients require the suspension of the mapping for a period longer than 20 min. The occurrence of seizures is the most important complication during the awake time of surgery, and can be controlled either by cold saline irrigation or by the infusion of a small bolus (1 ml) of propofol. Vomiting is a rare complication, and can be controlled by the administration of anti-emetics at the beginning of the phase of mapping [88].

Neurophysiology

The major components of the neurophysiological protocol are EEG, ECoG, EMG, DES and MEP techniques. The protocol includes mapping and monitoring procedures [9, 11, 16, 19, 28, 114, 117, 138].

In our Institution, EEG activity is recorded bilaterally by four subdermal needle electrodes, providing four bipolar leads. EEG is registered to monitor brain activity when EcoG is not available, i.e. at the beginning and the end of surgery, and, moreover, to assess brain activity at distance from the operating field, such as the contralateral hemisphere.

EcoG activity from a cortical region adjacent the area being stimulated is recorded by subdural strip electrodes with four to eight contacts, in a monopolar array, referred to a midfrontal electrode. Cerebral activity was recorded with a bandpass 1.6–320 Hz, and displayed with a sensitivity of 50–100 micron/cm for EEG and 200–400 micron/cm for EcoG. Continuous electrocorticographic recordings (Comet, Grass) are used during the entire duration of the procedure, to monitor the brain basal electrical activity, to define the working current (as that immediately below the one which induced an afterdischarge), to monitor for the occurrence of afterdischarges or electrical seizures during the resection.

A continuous multichannel EMG recordings (Comet, Grass) is used throughout the entire duration of the procedure. Several separate muscles belongings to agonist or antagonist muscles are monitored, either in the contralateral or ipsilateral body. Motor responses are collected by pairs of subdermal hooked needle electrodes inserted into contralateral muscles from face to foot. Each pair of electrodes records two different muscles in the same body segment, in order to sample as many muscles as possible (i.e. a flexor and an extensor muscle in the forearm). A number of 16 channels are used on average for each procedure. The most used setting is comprehensive of face (upper and lower face), neck, arm, forearm, hand, upper leg, lower leg. A computerized video and image capturing system is continuously coupled with the EMG recordings (Comet, Grass), to further monitor and register the motor activity. In addition to EMG recordings, motor activity is also evaluated clinically.

Direct electrical stimulation (DES) for cortical and subcortical mapping is performed by the use of a bipolar hand-held stimulator with 1-mm electrode delivered stimulation, according to Berger and coll., tips 5 mm apart, connected to Ojemann Cortical Stimulator (Integra Neuroscience) or a Osiris stimulator (Inomed, Germany), which is delivering biphasic square wave pulses, each phase lasting 1 ms, at 60 Hz in trains lasting 1 s for cortical mapping and 1-2 s for subcortical mapping. For subcortical mapping, either the same current used for cortical mapping or a current raised of 2 mA, is applied, and the stimulus is continuously alternated with resection.

For continuous monitoring of motor function, MEP recordings can be performed. The train of five technique, being introduced for surgery in anesthetized patients has been described as sensitive to detect imminent lesions of the motor cortex and the pyramidal pathways. A strip electrode containing 4 to 8 electrodes is placed over the precentral gyrus. In awake patients a single stimulus or a double pulse stimulus (individual pulse width 0.3–0.5 ms, anodal constant current stimulation; interstimulus interval 4 ms, stimulation close to motor threshold) is usually delivered. The muscle motor evoked potentials (MEP) have to be recorded with either needle or – more convenient in awake patients- with surface EMG electrodes. MEP recordings is usually alternated with direct cortical motor mapping.

The purpose of the mapping procedure is to reliably test motor, language and cognitive function. For starting the mapping procedure, the initial activity is to define the stimulation parameters. As previously reported, a low frequency of 60 Hz is used, and the initial work is to establish the working current. As movement is easy to observe, it is advisable to start the procedure with mapping of motor function. Once determined the intensity of the current for stimulation, the same is used in most of the cases throughout the procedure, also for the mapping of cognitive and language functions. Initially, a low current intensity (2 mA) is used, and then progressively increased till a movement is induced. A stimulus duration of 1 or 2s is usually enough to generate a motor response. At this point, it is good practice to stimulate the areas close to that in which the current induced the movement, in order to map them and to check if the current is able to evoke motor responses also in these zones. If not, the current intensity may be increased and adjusted in order to evoke appreciable motor responses. It is also recommended to check with the ECoG if the applied current may induce afterdischarges, in the nearby brain areas. In fact, only the current which is immediately below those which are inducing afterdischarges have to be used for mapping. If afterdischarges are seen, the current should be set up at least 0.5 mA under the previous one. In any case, ECoG recording is used to detect the appearance of afterdischarges during mapping, in order to keep the test reliable. In fact, only the responses evoked in absence of afterdischarges are considered to be trustworthy (Fig. 1).

For language mapping, the current which has evoked motor responses is tested. The initial test used is counting. The current is usually applied onto the face premotor cortex, and the test is aimed to check if the current is able to stop the patient to count. This has to be repeated several times and the counting to be stopped at least three times, in order to be reliable. If not, the current intensity is increased till this is produced. When the current is establish, the current is applied to whole brain surface exposed, and the occurrence of after-discharges checked in the ECoG. The duration of the stimulus is between 3 to 4 s. Only the current which is not inducing afterdischarges in the entire brain surface to be mapped is used for mapping. In case of afterdischarges, the current intensity is decreased at least of 0.5 ms.

For cortical mapping, it is common practice to stimulate the whole of the exposed cortical area every 5 mm^2 , to avoid the stimulation of the same cortical area twice consecutively. Each site have to be tested at least 3 non consecutive



Fig. 1. ECoG monitoring during cortical and subcortical mapping. A, B) ECoG can be used to monitor the occurrence of afterdischarges. Afterdischarges (encircled) can appear as single or short train for spikes after the application of a stimulus. Intensity which can elicit the apperance of afterdischarges may vary according to the exitability of the cortex. C) Occasionally, spikes can organized and a electrical seizures may occur. EMG (upper lines) shows that no clinical activity was present. The electrical seizure was controlled by cold irrigation, D) rarely, single spikes may occur also during subcortical stimulation, when the stimulus is applied in the upper part of the pathways, not too far from the cortex

times before considering it either positive or negative. This is done to check the reproducibility of the responses, and to avoid the generation of responses due afterdischarges or electrical seizures.

It is important to keep the surfaces to be stimulated moist, not to stop mapping after identifying only one eloquent site, but to search for possible redundancies; a negative mapping does not protect, but creates the problem of questionable stimulation reliability. Stimulation intensity should be decrease during "control stimulations" in areas of "decompressed" brain tissues, in order to limit the risk of inducing a seizure. During deviation from optimal stimulation intensities, intra-operative electrocorticography can be very useful.

For subcortical motor mapping, the evoked responses are checked with EMG recording or clinically. For visuospatial subcortical mapping, the patient



is presented with bisection or the cancellation test, for language subcortical mapping with a language test composed mainly of object naming or verb generation. Also during subcortical mapping ECoG is continuosly monitored to look for the occurrence of asfterdischarges and to assess for the occurrence of seizure and for the reliability of the responses (Fig. 1).

MEP monitoring is usually used the beginning of the procedure, and helps in identifying the location of the motor strip. During resection, MEP recording is alternated with subcortical motor mapping and provide additional information of the integrity of the motor pathways.

Results of the mapping or monitoring procedures

The previously described neurophysiological protocol has been applied on 400 consecutive patients submitted at our Institution during the last three years at surgical resection of gliomas located close or within motor, visuospatial or language areas or pathways. The majority of these cases were low-grade gliomas (79%), with a mean age of 37.6 years (ranging from 16 to 68 years).

Motor mapping

Motor responses were observed in all patients with lesions located close or within motor areas or pathways. We usually map motor responses in patients with tumors located in rolandic or premotor or parietal region. In addition, motor mapping is also applied at cortical and subcortical level for lesions located in the insula or deep temporal region, in which motor pathways can be encountered during resection. For lesions located in the non-dominant hemisphere, the patient is kept under general anesthesia, and the tube positioned through the nose. This allows the placement of a series of electrodes in the inner palate and pharyngeal muscles, as well as in the tongue, which are useful to detect responses from these muscles (Fig. 2). For lesions close or within visuospatial or language areas of pathways, the patient is always awak-

Fig. 2. Cortical motor mapping. A) The stimulus is applied over the area of the brain which is supposed to be the motor cortex. Stimulation of M1 induce quite sharp tonic responses; the stimulation of the motor cortex and allows to sequentially identify the areas of the brain which stimulation evokes movements of the mouth (upper and lower lips, left panel), of the hand (central panel) and of the forearm (right panel), allowing to define the progression of the motor homunculus. B) In patients under general anesthesia, electrodes can be place into the mouth, tongue, and pharyngeal muscles, allowing to identify the portion of the motor strip involved in these movements. Evoked responses are characterized by a EMG pattern (b) which is similar to that observed during spontaneous movements (such as swallowing), during the phase of discontinuation of anesthetics (a). The intraoperative picture shows the relationship between the tumor and the motor cortex. Arrows indicate the correspondence with the EMG responses. (c) indicates upper and lower lips evoked motor responses

ened during the procedure. In case of mapping performed under general anesthesia, the current intensity range between 5 and 15 mA, and the level of anesthesia which strongly influences the excitability of the cortex can be monitored by ECoG. In case of awake patients, a current intensity ranging between 2 and 8 mA is usually enough to evoke motor responses. In these patients, there are no electrodes placed in the mouth, and the activity of the muscles of this region can be checked by monitoring the responses of the patients and by overt inspection. Awake patients are asked to relax before and during stimulation, and to assist in the description of induced movements or in the sensory changes. A stimulation duration of 1 or 2s is usually enough to generate a motor response. Cortical stimulation induces focal motor responses. EMG recording provided an excellent view of the whole contralateral body at the same time, reducing the risk to miss responses in segments difficult to inspect, due to the position of the patient on the operating table or to detect, such as the mouth or pharyinx (Fig. 2). We observed different morphologies of EMG responses: cortically evoked responses showed great variations in amplitude, but they appeared always as continuous, tonic bursts of activity, often incrementing during stimulation. Smallest amplitudes were observed in the neck and the shoulder, or in the mouth. Occasionally in patients under general anesthesia and receiving a large amount of anti epileptic medications, it might be difficult to evoke cortical motor responses, even after the current intensity has been increased till to that which might induce the appearance of afterdischarges. In these patients, the use of MEP recording can be useful for identify the location of the motor cortex and to plan the site of incision, allowing continuing resection. During subcortical stimulation, motor responses appeared as focal (few muscles) when the tract is stimulated in close vicinity to the surface, while they appeared on multiple muscle groups with deep stimulation. Subcortical stimulation evoked both tonic bursts and on-off activity, i.e. a M-shaped response, peaking at the onset and the end of stimulation. For resection of tumors located in premotor cortex, the placement of electrodes in the ipsilateral muscles allows to detect during resection responses coming from these segments. In addition, when resection is approaching deep portion of the tumor, subcortical stimulation it allows to detect small motor responses without overt muscle activity, which indicate that the resection is becaming close to motor pathways (Fig. 3). When these warning responses are identified, resection should became particularly careful in this region and can proceed till more pronounced motor responses are identified, usually when the tip probe is touching and stimulating the motor pathways. The identification of such pathways is therefore particularly useful for performing a sage and effective resection.

The simultaneous use of CUSA and DES at subcortical level in proximity of the cortico-spinal tract may bring to the abolition of previously evident motor responses. This abolition is generally fully reversible after turning the



Fig. 3. Subcortical motor stimulation. A) EMG allows to monitor subcortical motor mapping responses. When the resection is approaching the internal capsule, the stimulation of the peripheral portion of the corticospinal tract induce evoked motor responses which involves all the segments of the body, from the upper to the lower arm (upper panel). B) The placement of electrodes in the pharyngeal muscles allows to identify the subcortical tracts which are involved in this function. C) The use of EMG allows to identify motor tracts before that overt motor responses are visible. This is particularly useful in the deeper part of the resection cavity, and reduce the risk of motor tract injury. The responses for the forearm, hand, and foot were not clinically visible and were induced for stimulation of deeper part of the resection cavity, close to the internal capsule

CUSA off. An analogous pattern of inhibition of motor responses can be also evident when the DES is applied cortically and CUSA used subcortically close to motor pathways. This interference with motor mapping may be interpreted as a transitory inhibition of axonal conduction. The clinical significance of this interference is relevant when CUSA and DES are used simultaneously for motor mapping because it can decrease the sensitivity of the brain mapping technique, and should be kept in mind by the surgeon when during resection is using both tools [20].

Motor monitoring

For continuous motor monitoring with MEP, a second EcoG strip electrode is placed over M1, delivering monopolar pulses to elicit Motor Evoked Potentials (MEP) in a few target muscles: MEP are monitored throughout the surgery,

except when the surgeon needs direct subcortical mapping for mapping purposes. MEP monitoring is very useful because it provides on line information of the integrity of the motor pathways during resection of large part of the tumor not closely located to functional structures. In addition, MEP provides warnings of impending brain ischemia, due to critical vessel interruption, mostly in deep temporal or insular regions [96].

Language and visuospatial monitoring

The current intensity generally applied for language mapping in awake patients is ranging between 2 and 9 mA. To identify malcompliance or impairment not related to stimulation e.g. a non-convulsive seizure, each stimulation should start before the presentation of the material started. Each stimulation should be followed by at least a task without stimulation, and two tasks are the standard. Being the duration of the stimulation longer than that for motor mapping (4 s vs. 1-2 s) repetitive stimulation might trigger afterdischarges or seizures. The stimulus is applied immediately before the item is presented to the patient, and a neuropsychologist who is present in the OR is evaluating the performance of the patient during the various tests administered at both cortical and subcortical level to maintain patient language integrity. Various type of mistakes can be encountered during the performance of the tests (Table 2). The mistakes can occasionally occur without stimulation, or more frequently during stimulation. It is important during the administration of each test to check the ECoG and EEG for the occurrence of afterdischarges or electrical seizures. Only the mistakes in the absence of ECoG disturbances are reliable. In addition, a site can be define as essential for language when it produces language disturbances at least three time in various non consecutive stimulation. Cortical language sites coding for object naming, verb generation, face naming, word or sentence comprehension, numbers or colors can be identified in several regions in the frontal, temporal or parietal lobe, which a distribution which differs according to patient and patient gender. For subcortical language mapping, the patient is asked to perform a object naming and a verb generation task during which the surgeon can continue to perform resection which is alternated with stimulaton.

Table 2. List of the most common mistakes encountered during cortical and subcortical language mapping

- Anomia, misnamimg or incorrect word insertion
- Phonemic paraphasia
- Semantic paraphasia
- Use of complex sentences
- Initiation disorders
- Latency of response
- Voice disturbances: sillabic modification, pseudo-accent, hypophonia

When a language disturbance is produced, the site is then carefully tested for the occurrence of semantic or phonemic paraphasia. Each tract is characterized by involvement in the semantic (inferior fronto occipital tract, uncinatus,...) or phonemic (superior longitudinalis, inferior longitudinalis, subcallosum) and can be recognized at a subcortical level by the appearance of semantic or phonemic paraphasia associated with typical language disturbances, such as for examples speech arrest for the subcallosum. Also during subcortical language mapping it is very important to check for the occurrence of afterdischarges or electrical seizures, in order to minitor the reliability of the testing. During subcortical mapping it is also possible to evoked motor responses, due to the identification and stimulation of motor fibers belonging either to the premotor component of the face which induce anarthya, or to the corticospinal tract, which induce various type of muscle activation depending on the location and deep of stimulation. Generally, this occurs in 20% of cases.

Visuospatial mapping is performing usually in patients with lesions located in the parietal lobe, and in case of dominant location it is intermingled with language mapping. The patient is usually requested to look at the appearance of a line in a touch screen and to bisect the line, by touching its center with a pen. A deviation toward right or left over 2 cm is usually considered as pathologic, and associated with an interference in the visuospatial function. The current intensity is the same as for cortical motor mapping. The same procedure is also performed at subcortical level by using the same current intensity or a current up to 2 mA over the previous one. Subcortical visuospatial mapping identified a small and discrete tract usually running al the lateral mid border of the tumor which is involved in this function. The preservation of this tract as well as of the cortical sites, prevents the occurrence of neglect during the post operative course. As for language and motor mapping, ECoG and EEG should be monitored during the entire duration of the test to check for its reliability.

EEG and ECoG monitoring

EEG and ECoG recordings should be kept during the entire duration of the procedure because it allows to monitor for the occurrence of afterdischarges, electrical seizures or even clinical seizures. Group of ECoG spikes or electrical seizures occur in up to 30–40% of cases, and can be or not related to stimulation. In any case, when they appear it is recommended to irrigate the cortex and the surgical cavity with cold saline, that result in the majority of the cases in the control and reversal of the situation. Clinical seizures occur in 8% of cases, and most of them are focal. The use of cold saline irrigation is able to control and totally revert most of them. In these cases, the EEG is useful to look for the cases of diffusion of the seizure, either at the same or even worse at the contralateral hemisphere. The few clinical seizures we observed appeared most frequently at the end of tumor resection, when cortical stimulation was applied

to assess the integrity of the motor pathway. The current was subsequently reduced, and no seizure was observed anymore. This stress the point that at the end of the surgical resection it might be requested to reduce the intensity current, due to the reduction of the mass effect exerted by the tumor mass of the surrounding functional parenchyma. In selected cases, ECoG can be used to detect generation of spikes in specific areas of the cortex, in close or not vicinity with the tumor mass, and that are responsible for sustaining electrical activity.

Intraoperative imaging

The neuronavigation system is loaded with morphologic volumetric T1 and T2 images, along with motor and language fMRI and DTI FT images. Neuronavigation helps during surgery to localize the tumor, and to define the relationship between the tumor and the surrounding functional and anatomic structures, both at cortical and subcortical level. As estimate for the clinical navigation accuracy, the target registration error localizing a separate fiducial, which is not used for registration, is usually performed at the beginning of surgery. The target registration error should be less than 2 mm. The main limitation of the use of a neuronavigation system, particularly in case of large tumors, is the occurrence of brain shift, which occurs already at the beginning of surgery, when the dura is opened, and increases with the progress of tumor removal [7, 66, 68, 101, 113, 125]. Resection should be performed in order to maintain the maximal accuracy of the neuronavigation system, to reduce the problem of brain shift: repeated landmark checks are performed during surgery to ensure overall ongoing clinical navigation accuracy; the use of a craniotomy limited to the minimum necessary to expose the tumor area and a limited portion of the surrounding brain, allows to minimize brain shift; in case of frontal tumors located in the proximity of CST, resection is started from the posterior border where the CST is located and, after its identification, the tract is followed inside the tumor mass. Afterwards the remaining anterior part of the tumor is removed. Similarly, in case of parietal tumors, resection is started from the anterior border following the same principle. The value of the localization of functional areas obtained from fMRI in tumors has been studied by correlating fMRI data with intraoperative cortical stimulation. For motor correlation, the results of the direct cortical stimulation matches those obtained with fMRI, both positively and negatively, although the extent of the functional activations was larger than the area defined with intraoperative mapping, and results are strictly dependent on the type of task used for testing [15, 82]. These data indicates that motor fMRI can be safely used for planning surgery. For the language correlation, the results are variable and different according to series. Naming and verb generation tasks are those which are most widely used for language fMRI studies. Generally, language fMRI data obtained with naming or

verb generation tasks were imperfectly correlated with intraoperative brain mapping results (sensitivity 59% and specificity 97% when the two fMRI are combined) [108, 121, 124, 136]. Generally, fMRI is showing larger activation than those observed with direct cortical mapping, which on the contrary, demonstrates only essential language sites. In our experience, the sensitivity can be increased up to 72% by using in the fMRI naming tasks the same figures used during surgery. Nevertheless, also in this condition, false negative can be documented in up to 8% of patients. Therefore, language fMRI could not be used to make critical decisions in absence of direct brain mapping. As for DTI FT, it is important to remember that DTI FT is providing anatomical information whereas subcortical mapping functional ones. This affects the correspondence and concordance between DTI FT images and functional



Fig. 4. DTI FT and subcortical motor mapping. When combined with subcortical mapping, DTI FT helps the surgeon in the safe identification of subcortical motor tracts, which like in this case of motor grade II oligodendrogliomas, were located at the peripheral portion of the tumor. Stimulation of these tracts elicited evoked motor responses for the hand (left lower panel) in the superior part of the resection cavity, the hand, lower and upper lips (right lower panel) when the resection was approaching the deeper part of the tumor

information obtained with subcortical mapping [7, 13]. This is of relative importance for CST (Fig. 4), but of particular relevance for language tracts, in which the anatomical distribution of the tract as depicted by DTI is larger than the functional ones obtained with mapping. Therefore, large part of the tract as depicted by DTI FT can be removed because not functional for the function tested at that time. When a FA of 0.1 is used for tracking, there is usually a good concordance between DTI FT data and subcortical motor mapping (sensitivity for CST = 95%, language tracts = 97\%). Some pitfalls may occur for low-grade gliomas located in rolandic or SMA areas. DTI FT may fail in reconstructing portion of CST, particularly in area of extensive tumor infiltration. Even the placement of additional ROI at this level only partially improves reconstruction. As for SLF, the anatomic distribution of this tract is usually quite larger than the functional ones when language subcortical mapping is performed (Fig. 5). This is particular the case of frontal and temporal tumors. In low-grade gliomas, SLF is often depicted inside the tumor mass. As for the IFO, the anatomic distribution of this tract is small and usually corresponds to the functional one depicted by subcortical mapping (Fig. 6). Some problems may occur for F3 low-grade gliomas in which DTI FT may fail in reconstructing the more superior part of the tract at the inferior border of the tumor, when the tumor infiltration in this area is quite extensive. As for the UNC, the anatomic distribution of this tract is small and usually corresponds to the functional one depicted by subcortical mapping. The reconstruction of this tract in F3 tumors requires the placement of an additional ROI at this level. In F3 low-grade gliomas, the tract is usually inside the tumor mass, and the

Fig. 5. DTI FT and subcortical language mapping. DTI FT for SLF were fused with T1 weighted MR images and loaded into the neuronavigation system. A) The DTI FT reconstruction of the SLF is larger than the functional ones identify by subcortical language mapping and the non functional portion of the tract visualized by DTI FT can be safely removed. The upper panel is showing an intraoperative snapshots from the neuronavigation system which indicates the location of a subcortical sites where phonemic paraphasias were evoked. The portion of the SLF place anteriorly to this point was safely removed because not functional. The mid panel is showing showing an intraoperative snapshots from the neuronavigation system which indicates the location of a subcortical sites where phonemic paraphasias were evoked, demonstrating in this case a good correlation between DTI FT reconstruction and subcortical language mapping data. The lower panel is showing post operative post contrast T1 weighted MR images. B) A case of left frontal F3 grade II oligodendroglioma, in which SLF constitutes the anterior, upper medial and upper posterior border of the resection cavity. Arrows indicate the correlation between intraoperative snapshots and subcortical sites at the border of the resection cavity. The lower left picture shows the results of the cortical motor and language mapping. The tags indicate areas of the cortex in which stimulation induced speech disturbances



ш





Fig. 6. DTI FT and subcortical language mapping. DTI FT for IFO were fused with T1 weighted MR images and loaded into the neuronavigation system. The IFO is small discrete tract, and when encountered is always functional. A, B) Examples of good correlation between DTI FT reconstruction for IFO and suncortical language mapping. In A) the IFO constitutes the medial inferior margin of the resection cavity of a cystic recurrent grade II oligodedroglioma. In B) the upper medial margin of a left temporal grade II oligodendroglioma

depicted fibers are usually found as functional by subcortical mapping. In temporal LGG tumors, the tract is still described as inside the tumor mass, but the fibers are extensively infiltrated and interrupted, and not functional.

Intraoperative MR has been more widely used for surgical treatment of low-grade gliomas [26, 69, 90, 98, 100]. Surgery for low-grade gliomas has been performed by using both low (0.2 or 0.5) or high (1.5) magnetic fields. The advantage of using intraoperative MR images is to have a precise jugdement of surgical removal while the patient is still in the operating room. In addition, by performing repeated images during surgery, it is possible to update morphological images and by transferring them into the neuronavigation system, to overcome the problem of brain shift [132]. Progression of surgery can be followed, and the occurrence of intraoperative complications monitored [91]. Furthermore, associated MRI software allows for a more precise estimation of initial and resected MRI tumor volume, permitting an improved measurement of the exposure variable. Usually in at least in 20% of cases of low-grade gliomas, a remnants of the tumor can be visualized in the field, and further removed [94]. The main limit of the intraoperative MR system is the cost of the machine and of the instrumentarium. The use of low field may permit the use of nonmagnetic surgical instruments, and are characterized by a lower cost of installation and of the machine. Varies low field machine are available, either the 0.2 Polestar or the 0.5 GE machine. The 0.5 GE prototip allows on time intraoperative images during surgery, but is limited by the restricted surgical room and by the need of using a complete nonmagnetic surgical tools. In addition, low magnetic fields do not permit to perform fMRI or DTI FT studies. Intraoperative high-field magnetic resonance (MR) system is at present one of the most sophisticated technical methods providing a reliable immediate intraoperative quality control. It enables intraoperative imaging at high quality that is up to the standard of up to date pre- and postoperative neuroradiological routine diagnostics. High-field MR imaging offers various modalities beyond standard anatomical imaging, such as MR spectroscopy, diffusion tensor imaging, and functional MR imaging which may also be applied intraoperatively, providing not only data on the extent of resection and localization of tumor remnants but also on metabolic changes, tumor invasion, and localization of functional eloquent cortical and deep-seated brain areas. Various systems have been developed and variable used. In most of them the patient is located into a bed and moved with into the magnet for MR images. Recently 3T MR systems have been put in place, or are under construction, like in our Institution. Both fMRI and DTI FT have been demonstrated to be feasible in these systems. Nevertheless, fMRI requires the patients to be awake and perform tasks inside the scanner. In addition, the quality of the generated data is often not as good as what can be achieved pre operatively. Furthermore, the time needed to acquire and process the data is often substantial. An alternative

approach used in recent device is therefore to acquire fMRI and DTI FT pre operatively, and track the anatomical changes that occur during surgery using intraoperative MR images and apply the changes found to the pre operative data [3, 99, 100, 102].

Ultrasound is another imaging option used for intraoperative visualization of low-grade gliomas. Advances in ultrasound technology have made the image quality of the ultrasound comparable to intraoperative MR [112]. Recent studies showed that the integration of intraoperative ultrasound with neuronavigation represents an efficient and inexpensive tool for intraoperative imaging and surgical guidance. Brain shift detected with intraoperative ultrasound could be used to update pre operative image data such as fMRI and DTI FT in order to increase the value of this information thorought the operation. The ability of these methods to reveal forgot tumor remnants is lower than that of intraoperative MR systems.

Immediate post operative course

When resection is perfomed according to functional boundaries, this is associated with a high incidence of development of immediate post operative deficits (over 70%), due to the functional blockage of the system (see the following paragraph). During this period patients are submitted to neuropsychological evaluation, motor rehabilitation, to follow deficit recovery, and to standard post operative imaging, including T1, T2 and flair volumetric sequences, to evaluate extent of resection.

Functional results of surgery

When brain mapping techniques are applied to low-grade glioma surgery, functional results can be evaluated either at early (within one week) to late (from one month to three months) time after surgery. The purpose of brain mapping techniques is to identify and preserve at the time of surgery cortical and subcortical essential sites. Resection was in fact stopped when language and/or motor, or visuospatial, cortical or subcortical areas were encountered. In most of in low-grade gliomas, motor or language disturbances were evocated either inside the tumor mass as well as at the tumor margins, because most of the essential sites particularly at the subcortical level are located within the tumor. The preservation of subcortical tracts is therefore critical for patient integrity [6, 7, 12, 36, 41, 43]. Evaluation of motor or language deficits during post operative course and at follow-up, showed that the chance to develop a new deficit or to worsen a preexisting one in the immediate post operative period was 72.8% and 65.4% in the group of patients in which language or motor related areas were identified subcortically during resection, and very low in the group of patients in which no subcortical sites were identified [6, 70]. The chance was also higher in patients with a pre-existing motor or language deficit, which correlates with the higher percentage of subcortical tracts identified in the same patients. Most of the deficits were transient and disappeared within one month from surgery. Nevertheless, in the group of patients in which a subcortical language site was identified during resection, the likelihood to develop a permanent deficit was 3.8% independently from histology and location, that reached 7% in patients with a pre-existing motor or language deficit. In contrast, when no subcortical sites were found at the time of surgery, the chance to induce permanent deficit was very low (2%). This percentage further reinforce the concept that when a subcortical site is found, the surgeon is very close to the subcortical pathway. Therefore, when a subcortical response is reliably detected, resection must stop and should be continued in the neighborhood structures, because there is a high chance to damage functional structures [6, 43, 70]. If no subcortical structures are found, the resection can be continued, because the chance to hamper essential structures is low. These data indicate subcortical stimulation as a reliable tool able to guide surgical resection, and at the same time to predict the likelihood to develop deficit post operatively. The low incidence of post operative deficits in patients in which no subcortical tracts were identified is usually due to vascular damage and at the development of ischemic areas. MEP monitoring can help in monitor and preventing the appearance of motor deficits due to vascular injury [96]. When subcortical stimulation was systematically applied during resection of low-grade gliomas located within language areas or pathways, 79.5% of patients had a long term post operative normal language, 18.6% showed mild disturbances still compatible with a daily life useful language, and only 2.3% showed a long term impairment. Similar figures were observed for resection of gliomas close to motor areas or pathways. These functional results were totally different from those obtained when subcortical stimulation was not applied. Analysis of patients with high- or low-grade gliomas operated on in our Institution before the use of direct electrical stimulation, showed 23% of permanent language or motor deficits, in accordance with what has been previously reported in other series [6, 33, 41]. These data support the relevance of subcortical stimulation as a useful surgical adjunct during removal of lesions involving motor or speech areas, as further demonstrated by the high percentage of patients (91.8%) who returned to work at three months after surgery.

Oncological results of surgery

From an oncological point of view surgery, wishes to different aims: precise histological and molecular diagnosis, relief symptoms, reduce the incidence of seizures, reduce the rate of recurrence and of malignant transformation, and possibly increase patient survival.

The ability of surgery to allow the pathologist to reach a more precise histological diagnosis and to relief symptoms particularly in case of large tumors inducing a mass effect, is at now less a matter of debate, although simple biopsy without resection, will continue to be theoretically acceptable and will continue to be practiced until better evidence is available.

The effect of surgery on the incidente of seizures has been recently documented by several authors [16, 43]. Seizures play an important role in the clinical presentation and postoperative quality of life of patients who undergo surgical resection of low-grade gliomas [74]. At least 50% of patients have a seizure at diagnosis and in more than 81% seizures persist after diagnosis even when the patient are under anti epileptic drugs (AED) treatment. Cortical location and oligodendroglioma and oligoastrocytoma subtypes are significantly more likely to be associated with seizures compared with deeper midline locations and astrocytoma. Forty-nine percent of patients have pharmacoresistant seizures before surgery. A particolar case is that of insular or paralimbic tumors. In these cases, intractable epilepsy is observed in 30% to 58% of cases and patients may experience up to 10 partial seizures per day despite more than 2 AEDs. Seizure control is more likely to be achieved after gross-total resection than after subtotal resection/biopsy alone. In fact when total or subtotal resection is achieved, in a more than 80% of cases a positive impact on seizures is documented, with reduction in the number of AED administered. In addition, suppression of AEDs is possible in 30% of cases [43]. Also in more than 80% of cases of insular low-grade gliomas with intractable epilepsy, a positive impact on seizures can be again documented. It is of relevance to remember than in low-grade glioma patient in which a seizure control has been reached after initial surgery, seizure recurrence is associated with tumor progression [16].

The first oncological result of when surgery is performed according to brain mapping techniques, is the increase in the number of cases who are submitted to surgical treatment, that in accordance of what has been previously reported in the literature, in our series moved from 11% of cases when mapping was not available, to 81% when mapping was applied, with a significant decrease in the number of cases that were submitted to biopsy only [6, 33, 41]. The second oncologic result, already discussed in the previous paragraph, is the decrease in the percentage of post operative permanent deficits, that felt from 33% to 2.3%, either for language or motor functions [6, 41, 43, 130]. The influence of extent of resection on time to recurrence, time to malignant transformation, and patient survival, is still a matter of debate. Nevertheless, a large number of class III and II evidences suggests that more extensive resection at the time of initial diagnosis may be a favorable prognostic factor for this type of tumors [10, 12, 18, 26, 41, 67, 89, 118, 126, 130]. The evalua-

tion of extent of resection is usually performed on post operative FLAIR volumetric images, by the aid of semi automatic segmentation software [71, 87]. The ability to achieve a complete resection (no abnormalities seen on post op FLAIR images) or subtotal resection (a post operative volume on volumetric post op FLAIR images less than 10 ml) is influenced by both the pre operative tumor volume and by tumor involvement of eloquent tissue, particularly at the subcortical level [130]. Pre operative tumor volume is a significant predictor of patient survival and progress free survival per se, as well as the involvement of subcortical tracts. Patients with tumors larger than 50 ml has a much shorter overall survival and progression free survival than those with tumors smaller than 25 ml. When the effect exerted by these two variables is analyzed together, the intraoperative finding of subcortical tracts is the parameter which mainly influences the ability to perform a complete removal, independently from tumor volume [6]. In a recent work [130], Berger showed that, after adjusting for the effects of age, KPS, tumor location, and tumor subtype, postoperative tumor volume remained a significant predictor of overall survival and progression free survival. Patients with a complete resection of FLAIR images have a significantly longer over all survival compared with patients having any residual FLAIR abnormality. In the same work, Berger and collegues subdivided patients with subtotal resection, in two subgroups, on the basis of postoperative tumor volume to specifically address the risk of relatively small volumes of residual tumor. Patients with residual FLAIR abnormality volume between 0.1 and 5.0 or between 5.1 and 15.0 ml demonstrated significantly shorter overall survival compared with patients who had complete resection of FLAIR abnormality. In addition, lower was the post operative volume, longer was the overall survival. Similarly, progression free survival was influenced by the post operative tumor volume. In our series of primary low-grade gliomas, no recurrence were observed at 5 year when the tumor was complete removed (no FLAIR abnormalities), whereas the percentage of recurrence at 5 year was 16.7% in case of subtotal removal (residual tumor volume less than 10 ml) and 38.5% in case of partial removal (residual tumor volume higher than 10 ml). In Berger analysis, after adjusting for the effects of age, KPS, tumor location and tumor subtype, extent of resection remained a significant predictor of overall survival and of time to malignant transformation. In our series, time to malignant transformation was 3.8 years in case of partial surgery, and 7.8 years in case of subtotal removal. Patients with at least 90% removal had 5- and 8-year overall survival (OS), progression free survival (PFS), and malignant progression free survival (MPFS) rates of 97% and 91%, 75% and 43%, and 93% and 76%, respectively, whereas patients with less than 90% removal had 5- and 8-year OS, PFS, and MPFS rates of 76% and 60%, 40% and 21%, and 72% and 48%, respectively. Patients with complete resection of all FLAIR abnormality had 5- and 8-year OS, PFS, and MPFS

rates of 98% and 98%, 78% and 48%, and 96% and 79%, respectively. When multivariate analysis was used, extent of resection was predictive of overall survival, whereas preoperative volume of progression free survival and time to malignant transformation [10, 130]. Globally considered, these data stress the importance of extent of resection in controlling tumor growth and influencing survival. Pre operative tumor volume strongly influences progression free survival and time to malignant transformation. This stress the point that smaller is the tumor better is the patient outcome, and that delaying surgical intervention may increase the risk of malignant transformation.

In Berger's work, the percentage of patients in which a total and subtotal resection was achieved was 35% and 27%, respectively. These figures are in accordance of what was reported by other groups, and in our experience. This stresses the point that when brain mapping techniques are used, this results in an increase in the percentage of total and subtotal resection. For example in our series, the percentage of total and subtotal resection raised from 11% in the period in which no mapping was available, to 52.8% of the time in which brain mapping techniques were applied. When intraoperative MR was used in combination with brain mapping techniques, this resulted in a further increase in the percentage of cases in which a total resection was achieved [26].

Strategy for large, diffuse or recurrent tumors; the concept of brain plasticity

Low-grade gliomas may present as a variable type of tumors ranging from discrete and apparently well defined lesion, to either diffuse and less discrete lesion. The therapeutic strategy for the more defined type of tumors are those we previously described. Large diffuse tumors still represent a challenge. Most of them are histologically diffuse astrocytoma. The majority of these tumors contain functional subcortical tracts, and a total or subtotal resection as initial strategy is quite difficult to be achieved. Although partial removal may still be beneficial [130], particularly in those cases in which a mass effect is present, the majority of these patients underwent to stereotactic biopsy only, usually guided by spectroscopy MR images, followed by adjuvant treatments. A recent strategy to increase the rate of resection in these as well as in those tumors in which a contralateral invasion of tumor cells in visible through the corpus callosum, is represented by the use of upfront pre operative chemotherapy. Limited class IV evidence show that when TMZ is administered upfront to these tumors up to a period of six months, this resulted in a decrease in tumor cell invasion, and reduced tumor cell infiltration along large fiber tracts, such as the corpus callosum, which in selected cases may help in reach a greater percentage of tumor removal [44]. Alternatively, chemotherapy may be use as adjuvant treatment, after partial removal, and in these cases it may further decrease post

operative tumor volume till to a value of 10 ml, which from an oncological point of view is associated with a better prognosis [6, 65, 111, 116]. In addition, in case of large tumors, a two time surgical strategy may be chosen, particularly in case of large tumors involving language areas or pathways. In these cases, in which during surgery is requested a long time patient collaboration, the initial surgery is continued till the patient collaboration and responsiveness is maintained, then is resumed from one week to various months later. In our Institution we adopted the policy that a period up to four to six months is used before submitting the patient to a second surgery. This is done to get the patient to recover from the initial surgery, secondly to let the phenomenon of brain plasticity to take place [43].

Despite of aggressive and early treatment, low-grade gliomas tend to recur. As already discussed in the previous paragraph, the rate of recurrence is influenced by the pre operative tumor volume and to a lesser extent by the extent of surgical removal [10, 43, 130]. A tumor recurrence may still retain the morphological feature of low-grade gliomas, or may show signs of tumor progression, such as contrast enhancement. The appearance of contrast enhacement is usually associated with a large pre operative volume, and with the presence of limited or focal enhancement in the pre operative MR images. Generally, when a total or subtotal removal were achieved at the time of initial surgery, the recurrent tumors has a higher chance to recur still as a low grade. When only a partial removal was obtained, the percentage of recurrence toward a higher grade is much higher. When a tumor recurs, various therapeutic options are available: surgery, chemotherapy, radiotherapy, or a wait and see policy [43, 104, 116]. Surgery usually is intermingled with the other therapeutic modalities, and is the treatment of choice when a subtotal or even a total removal can be predicted, such as in case of discrete lesions. When this is feasible, the prognosis of the patient is still favourable. Brain mapping techniques can be still applicable in case of recurrent tumors, even after radiotherapy. Alternatively, surgery may be used to decrease the tumor volume, in order to enhance the effect of chemo or radiotherapy. Generally, a patient with a low-grade gliomas may undergo to several surgeries during the entire time of the disease, and surgery is used with different purposes, and strictly associated with the other therapeutic modalities [128]. Up to 30% of patients in our series underwent to 4 surgeries, and 12% were submitted up to 5 operations. We observed a decrease in extent of resection with the increase in the number of surgeries, but this was not associated with an increase in the occurrence of transient and permanent post operative deficits.

An important observation that helps in planning surgeries is the occurrence of the phenomenon of brain plasticity [45]. Cerebral plasticity could be defined as the continuous processings allowing short, middle and long-term remodeling of the neurono-synaptic organization, in order to optimize the functioning of

the networks of the brain - during phylogenesis, ontogeny, physiological learning and following lesions involving the peripheral as well as the central nervous system [45]. The occurrence of brain plasticity in low-grade gliomas has been recently known [31, 37]. Plasticity may occur in the preoperative period and in this case, it is the results of the progressive functional brain reshaping induced by these slow growing lesion. This is suggested by the fact that in the preoperative period many patients despite large tumors and extensive invasion of eloquent structures, experienced very few or no neurological deficits [45]. This is further reinforced by neuroimaging functional studies with fMRI or PET which demonstrated that areas of activation have been found also around the tumor or into the contralateral hemisphere, suggesting that the reshaping mechanisms have induced the acquisition or the unmasking of functions by areas of the brain that were previously less involved in mediating specific functions [119]. Various types of reshaping can be observed: intrinsic reorganization within injured functional areas, recruitment of other regions implicated in the functional network, in the same hemisphere (close or even far away to the damaged area), or in the contralateral hemisphere. The presence of an already existing redundancy in the functional network is also observed during the resection, when unmasking of functional activity can be observed in previous silent areas, probably due to either hyper-excitability or lowering of the activation threshold of the cortex. This is observed in the particular case of motor functions [34]. The most important observation of the occurrence of brain plasticity is the post operative period. This has been shown by submitting patients that have recovered from post operative deficit status, to functional neuroimaging studies some months after surgery and when a recovery has occurred, demonstrating the activation of different areas of the brain, close or remote to those were involved in the preoperative period [78]. Plasticity may occur either at a cortical level, or, although less frequently at a subcortical level, where it can be explained by the recruitment or unmasking of parallel and redundant subcortical circuits [40]. The occurrence of such phenomenon of compensation is of particular relevance because it allows to extend surgical indications. It allows to extend the initial surgery till when functional boundaries are encountered allowing the patient to recovering in the post operative period due to the activation of redundant functional areas, when the essential are preserved at cortical or subcortical level. Secondly, the functional reshaping induced by the initial surgery, can be used to perform a second surgery wit the aim to remove areas of the brain initially essential for function, and that due to the functional reshaping induced by the initial surgery or to the continuous slow growth of the tumor, have lost their essentiality in term of function. This functional reshaping phenomenon can be observed up to a period of six months after the initial surgery, and allows to perform a more radical second surgery with an increase in the oncological benefit for the patient. The neurosurgeon should gain a better knowledge of these plasticity phenomena, and their variability among patients, in order to try to integrate this potential in the surgical indications and in a dynamic surgical planning. In other words, the extent of resection and the number of surgical acts necessary to perform a tumor resection should be adapted to the individual potential of functional compensation, thus to its limits [45].

Conclusions and proposal for the future

Low-grade gliomas are slow growing intrinsic lesions that induces a progressive functional reshaping of the brain. Surgical removal of these lesions requires the combined efforts of a multidisclipinary team of neurosurgeons, neuroradiologists, neuropsychologists, neurophysiologists, and neurooncologists that all together contribute in the definition of the location, extension, and extent of functional involvement that a specific lesion has induced in a particular patient. It is important to keep in mind that each tumor has induced particular and specific changes of the functional network, that varies among patients. This requires that each treatment plan is tailored to the tumor and to the patient. When this is reached, surgery should be accomplished according to functional and anatomical boundaries, and has the aims to the maximally resect the mass and to maximally preserve patient functional integrity. This can be reached at the time of the initial surgery, depending on the functional organization of the brain, or may require additional surgeries, eventually intermingled with adjuvant treatments. The use of so called brain mapping techniques extend surgical indications, improve extent of resection with greater oncological, impact, minimization of morbidity and increase in quality of life. Data available at this time indicate that low-grade gliomas at the time of radiographic diagnosis benefit from surgery because, aggressive early surgery influences the incidence of recurrence, time to tumor progression, time to malignant transformation, and provides seizure control. Smaller is the tumor to treat at the time of initial diagnosis, higher is the possibility to reach a complete surgical resection, better is the prognosis in term of recurrence, and tendency to malignant transformation. This point stresses the need to treat smaller lesion and to reduce the time for observation. Being the diffusive nature of these tumors the main reason that mainly limit the ability to reach a complete oncological resection, the implentation at the time of surgery of imaging method such those offered by intraoperative MR, may helps to remove the tumor and to follow it along the brain. In addition, the implementation of upfront pharmacological strategies capable of reducing the invasion along white matter tracts and compacting the tumor mass, may further enhance this result. The long term oncological results of this multimodality approach requires the evaluation of a large cohort of patients. This has been recently attempted by the development of a LGG

European Network that aims both to collect data on LGG and uniform management and protocols for such tumors all across European countries.

References

- Andrewes DG, Kaye A, Murphy M, Harris B, Aitken S, Parr C, Bates L (2003) Emotional and social dysfunction in patients following surgical treatment for brain tumor. J Clin Neurosci 10: 428–33
- Andrewes DG, Kaye A, Aitken S, Parr C, Bates L, Murphy M (2003) The ESDQ: a new method of assessing emotional and social dysfunction in patients following brain surgery. J Clin Exp Neuropsychol 25: 173–89
- Archip N, Clatz O, Whalen S, Kacher D, Fedorov A, Kot A, Chrisochoides N, Jolesz F, Golby A, Black PM, Warfield SK (2007) Non-rigid alignment of pre-operative MRI, fMRI, and DT-MRI with intra-operative MRI for enhanced visualization and navigation in imageguided neurosurgery. Neuroimage 35(2): 609–24
- Basser PJ, Pajevic S, Pierpaoli C, Duda J, Aldroubi A (2000) In vivo fiber tractography using DT-MRI data. Magnetic Resonance in Medicine: Official Journal of the Society of Magnetic Resonance in Medicine/Society of Magnetic Resonance in Medicine 44(4): 625–32
- Bello L, Acerbi F, Giussani C, Baratta P, Taccone P, Songa V, Fava M, Stocchetti N, Papagno C, Gaini SM (2006) Intraoperative language localization in multilingual patients with gliomas. Neurosurgery 59(1): 115–25; discussion 115–25
- Bello L, Gallucci M, Fava M, Carrabba G, Giussani C, Acerbi F, Baratta P, Songa V, Conte V, Branca V, Stocchetti N, Papagno C, Gaini SM (2007) Intraoperative subcortical language tract mapping guides surgical removal of gliomas involving speech areas. Neurosurgery 60(1): 67–80; discussion 80–82
- Bello L, Gambini A, Castellano A, Carrabba G, Acerbi F, Fava E, Giussani C, Cadioli M, Blasi V, Casarotti A, Papagno C, Gupta AK, Gaini S, Scotti G, Falini A (2008) Motor and language DTI Fiber Tracking combined with intraoperative subcortical mapping for surgical removal of gliomas. Neuroimage 39(1): 369–82 (Epub 2007 Aug 29)
- Benard F, Romsa J, Hustinx R (2003) Imaging gliomas with positron emission tomography and single-photon emission computed tomography. Semin Nucl Med 33: 148–62
- 9. Berger MS, Ojemann GA, Lettich E (1990) Neurophysiological monitoring during astrocytoma surgery. Neurosurg Clin N Am 1: 65–70
- 10. Berger MS, Deliganis AV, Dobbins J, et al. (1994) The effect of extent of resection on recurrence in patients with low grade cerebral hemisphere gliomas. Cancer 74: 1784–91
- Berger MS (1995) Functional mapping-guided resection of low-grade gliomas. Clin-Neurosurg 42: 437–52
- Berger MS, Rostomily RC (1997) Low-grade gliomas: Functional mapping resection strategies, extent of resection, and outcome. J Neurooncol 34: 85–101
- Berman JI, Berger MS, Mukherjee P, Henry RG (2004) Diffusion-tensor imaging-guided tracking of fibers of the pyramidal tract combined with intraoperative cortical stimulation mapping in patients with gliomas. J Neurosurg 101(1): 66–72
- Black PM, Ronner SF (1987) Cortical mapping for defining the limits of tumor resection. Neurosurgery 25: 786–92

- Bogomolny DL, Petrovich NM, Hou BL, Peck KK, Kim MJ, Holodny AI (2004) Functional MRI in the brain tumor patient. Top Magn Reson Imaging 15: 325–35
- Branco DM, Coelho TM, Branco BM, Schmidt L, Calcagnotto ME, Portuguez M, Neto EP, Paglioli E, Palmini A, Lima JV, Da Costa JC (2003) Functional variability of the human cortical motor map: electrical stimulation findings in perirolandic epilepsy surgery. J Clin Neurophysiol 20: 17–25
- Brown PD, Buckner JC, O'Neill BP, Brown CA, Scheithauer BW, Dinapoli RP, Arusell RM, Curran WJ, Abrams R, Shaw EG (2004) North Central Cancer Treatment Group; Mayo Clinic: Importance of baseline mini-mental state examination as a prognostic factor for patients with low-grade glioma. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 59: 117–25
- 18. Capelle L, Duffau H, Lopes M, Sichez JP, Bitar A, Faillot T, Arthuis F, Cornu P, Van Effenterre R, Keime-Guibert F, Carpentier A, Hong-Xuan K, Sanson M, Delattre JY, Kujas M, Mokhtari K, Poirier J, Sahel M, Zouaoui A, Lehericy S, Guillevin R, Guerin G, Mitchell MC, Roche S, Abdennour L, Puybasset L (2002) Who grade 2 gliomas in adults: a study of prognostic factors with special emphasis on the role of surgery. J Neurooncol 4: S17–69
- Carrabba G, Fava E, Giussani C, Acerbi F, Portaluri F, Songa V, Stocchetti N, Branca V, Gaini SM, Bello L (2007) Cortical and subcortical motor mapping in rolandic and perirolandic glioma surgery: impact on postoperative morbidity and extent of resection. J Neurosurg Sci 51(2): 45–51
- Carrabba G, Fava E, Mandonnet E, Capelle L, Duffau H, Bello L (2008) Transient axonal inhibition induced by CUSA during brain mapping: a case report with motor EMG evidence. Neurosurgery 63(1): E178–79; discussion E179
- Catani M, Howard RJ, Pajevic S, Jones DK (2002) Virtual in vivo interactive dissection of white matter fasciculi in the human brain. Neuroimage 17: 77–94
- 22. Cavaliere R, Lopes MB, Schiff D (2005) Low-grade gliomas: An update on pathology and therapy. Lancet Neurol 4: 760–70
- 23. Cha S, Tihan T, Crawford F, Fischbein NJ, Chang S, Bollen A, Nelson SJ, Prados M, Berger MS, Dillon WP (2005) Differentiation of low-grade oligodendrogliomas from low-grade astrocytomas by using quantitative blood-volume measurements derived from dynamic susceptibility contrast-enhanced MR imaging. Am J Neuroradiol 26(2): 266–73
- Chahlavi A, Kanner A, Peereboom D, Staugaitis SM, Elson P, Barnett G (2003) Impact of chromosome 1p status in response of oligodendroglioma to temozolomide: preliminary results. J Neurooncol 61: 267–73
- Chang EF, Potts MB, Keles GE, Lamborn KR, Chang SM, Barbaro NM, Berger MS (2008) Seizure characteristics and control following resection in 332 patients with low-grade gliomas. J Neurosurg 108(2): 227–35
- Claus EB, Horlacher A, Hsu L, *et al.* (2005) Survival rates in patients with low-grade glioma after intraoperative magnetic resonance image guidance. Cancer 103: 1227–33
- Clark CA, Barrick TR, Murphy MM, Bell BA (2003) White matter fiber tracking in patients with space-occupying lesions of the brain: a new technique for neurosurgical planning? NeuroImage 20(3): 1601–08
- Cedzich C, Taniguchi M, Schaffer S, Schramm J (1996) Somatosensory evoked potential phase reversal and direct motor cortex stimulation during surgery in and around the central region. Technical application. Neurosurgery 38: 962–71

- Danks RA, Rogers M, Aglio LS, Gugino LD, Black PM (1998) Patient tolerance of craniotomy performed with the patient under local anesthesia and monitored conscious sedation. Neurosurgery 42: 28–36
- Danks RA, Aglio LS, Gugino LD, Black PM (2000) Craniotomy under local anesthesia and monitored conscious sedation for the resection of tumors involving eloquent cortex. J Neurooncol 49: 131–39
- Desmurget M, Bonnetblanc F, Duffau H (2007) Contrasting acute and slow-growing lesions: a new door to brain plasticity. Brain 130(Pt 4): 898–14
- De Witte O, Levivier M, Violon P, Salmon I, Damhaut P, Wikler D Jr, Hildebrand J, Brotchi J, Goldman S (1996) Prognostic value positron emission tomography with [18F]fluoro–2–deoxy-D-glucose in the low-grade glioma. Neurosurgery 39: 470–76
- 33. Duffau H, Capelle L, Sichez J, Faillot T, Abdennour L, Law Koune JD, Dadoun S, Bitar A, Arthuis F, Van Effenterre R, Fohanno D (1999) Intraoperative direct electrical stimulations of the central nervous system: the Salpêtrière experience with 60 patients. Acta Neurochir (Wien) 141: 1157–67
- Duffau H, Sichez JP, Lehéricy S (2000) Intraoperative unmasking of brain redundant motor sites during resection of a precentral angioma: evidence using direct cortical stimulation. Ann Neurol 47: 132–35
- 35. Duffau H, Denvil D, Lopes M, Gasparini F, Cohen L, Capelle L, Van Effenterre R (2002) Intraoperative mapping of the cortical areas involved in multiplication and subtraction: an electrostimulation study in a patient with a left parietal glioma. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 73: 733–38
- Duffau H, Capelle L, Sichez N, Denvil D, Lopes M, Sichez JP, Bitar A, Fohanno D (2002) Intraoperative mapping of the subcortical language pathways using direct stimulations. An anatomofunctional study. Brain 125: 199–214
- Duffau H, Denvil D, Capelle L (2002) Long term reshaping of language, sensory, and motor maps after glioma resection: a new parameter to integrate in the surgical strategy. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 72: 511–16
- Duffau H, Capelle L, Denvil D, Sichez N, Gatignol P, Lopes M, Mitchell MC, Sichez JP, Van Effenterre R (2003) Functional recovery after surgical resection of low-grade gliomas in eloquent brain: hypothesis of brain compensation. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 74: 901–07
- Duffau L, Capelle L (2004) Preferential brain locations of low-grade gliomas. Cancer 100: 2622–26
- Duffau H, Khalil I, Gatignol P, Denvil D, Capelle L (2004) Surgical removal of corpus callosum infiltrated by low-grade glioma: functional outcome and oncological considerations. J Neurosurg 100: 431–37
- Duffau H, Lopes M, Arthuis F, *et al.* (2005) Contribution of intraoperative electrical stimulations in surgery of low-grade gliomas: a comparative study between two series without (1985–96) and with (1996–2003) functional mapping in the same institution. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 76: 845–51
- 42. Duffau H (2005) Lessons from brain mapping in surgery for low-grade glioma: insights into associations between tumour and brain plasticity. Lancet Neurol 4: 476–86
- 43. Duffau H, Gatignol P, Mandonnet E, Peruzzi P, Tzourio-Mazoyer N, Capelle L (2005) New insights into the anatomo-functional connectivity of the semantic system: a study using cortico-subcortical electrostimulations. Brain 128: 797–810

- 44. Duffau H, Taillandier L, Capelle L (2006) Radical surgery after chemotherapy: a new therapeutic strategy to envision in grade II glioma. J Neurooncol 80(2): 171–76
- 45. Duffau H (2006) New concepts in surgery of WHO grade II gliomas: functional brain mapping, connectionism and plasticity a review. J Neurooncol 79(1): 77–115
- Ebel H, Ebel M, Schillinger G, Klimek M, Sobesky J, Klug N (2000) Surgery of intrinsic cerebral neoplasms in eloquent areas under local anesthesia. Minim Invasive Neurosurg 43: 192–96
- Ebeling U, Schmid UD, Ying H, Reulen HJ (1992) Safe surgery of lesions near the motor cortex using intraoperative mapping techniques: a report on 50 patients. Acta Neurochir (Wien) 119: 23–28
- Everhard S, Kaloshi G, Crinière E, Benouaich-Amiel A, Lejeune J, Marie Y, Sanson M, Kujas M, Mokhtari K, Hoang-Xuan K, Delattre JY, Thillet J (2006) MGMT methylation: a marker of response to temozolomide in low-grade gliomas. Ann Neurol 60(6): 740–43
- Fukaya C, Katayama Y, Yoshino A, Kobayashi K, Kasai M, Yamamoto T (2001) Intraoperative wake-up procedure with propofol and laryngeal mask for optimal excision of brain tumor in eloquent areas. J Clin Neurosci 8: 253–55
- Galanaud D, Chinot O, Nicoli F, Confort-Gouny S, Le Fur Y, Barrie-Attarian M, Ranjeva JP, Fuentes S, Viout P, Figarella-Branger D, Cozzone PJ (2003) Use of proton magnetic resonance spectroscopy of the brain to differentiate gliomatosis cerebri from low-grade glioma. J Neurosurg 98: 269–276
- Gasparini FM, Cohen L, Lopes M, Denvil D, Capelle L, Duffau H, Van Effenterre R (2005) A clinical study of the number processing system: decimal size effects on reading numbers in patients with left parieto-occipital gliomas. Rev Neurol (Paris) 161: 427–35
- 52. Giussani C, Roux FE, Lubrano V, Gaini SM, Bello L (2007) Review of language organisation in bilingual patients: what can we learn from direct brain mapping? Acta Neurochir (Wien) 149(11): 1109–16; discussion 1116 [Epub 2007 Aug 23. Review]
- Goldstein B, Obrzut JE, John C, Ledakis G, Armstrong CL (2004) The impact of frontal and non-frontal brain tumor lesions on Wisconsin Card Sorting Test performance. Brain Cogn 54: 110–16
- Goldstein B, Obrzut JE, John C, Hunter JV, Armstrong CL (2004) The impact of low-grade brain tumors on verbal fluency performance. J Clin Exp Neuropsychol 26: 750–58
- Goldstein B, Armstrong CL, Modestino E, Ledakis G, John C, Hunter JV (2004) The impact of left and right intracranial tumors on picture and word recognition memory. Brain Cogn 54: 1–6
- Gossl C, Fahrmeir L, Putz B, Auer LM, Auer DP (2002) Fiber tracking from DTI using linear state space models: detectability of the pyramidal tract. Neuroimage 16: 378–88
- 57. Guillevin R, Menuel C, Duffau H, Kujas M, Capelle L, Aubert A, Taillibert S, Idbaih A, Pallud J, Demarco G, Costalat R, Hoang-Xuan K, Chiras J, Vallée JN (2008) Proton magnetic resonance spectroscopy predicts proliferative activity in diffuse low-grade gliomas. J Neurooncol 87(2): 181–87
- Haglund MM, Berger M (1996) Functional mapping of motor, sensory and language pathways during low-grade glioma removal. Tech Neurosurg 2: 141–49
- Heimans JJ, Taphoorn MJ (2002) Impact of brain tumour treatment on quality of life. J Neurol 249: 955–60

- 60. Hildebrand J, Lecaille C, Perennes J, Delattre JY (2005) Epileptic seizures during follow-up of patients treated for primary brain tumors. Neurology 65(2): 212–15
- 61. Hoang-Xuan K, Capelle L, Kujas M, Taillibert S, Duffau H, Lejeune J, Polivka M, Criniere E, Marie Y, Mokhtari K, Carpentier AF, Laigle F, Simon JM, Cornu P, Broet P, Sanson M, Delattre JY (2004) Temozolomide as initial treatment for adults with low-grade oligoden-drogliomas or oligoastrocytomas and correlation with chromosome 1p deletions. J Clin Oncol 22: 3133–38
- 62. Holodny AI, Schulder M, Liu WC, Wolko J, Maldjian JA, Kalnin AJ (2000) The effect of brain tumors on BOLD functional MR Imaging activation in the adjacent motor cortex: implications for image-guided neurosurgery. Am J Neuroradiol 21: 1415–22
- Jbabdi S, Mandonnet E, Duffau H, Capelle L, Swanson KR, Pelegrini-Issac M, Guillevin R, Benali H (2005) Diffusion tensor imaging allows anisotropic growth simulations of lowgrade gliomas. Mag Reson Med 54: 616–24
- 64. Johannesen TB, Langmark F, Lote K (2003) Progress in long-term survival in adult patients with supratentorial low-grade gliomas: a population-based study of 993 patients in whom tumors were diagnosed between 1970 and 1993. J Neurosurg 99: 854–62
- 65. Kaloshi G, Benouaich-Amiel A, Diakite F, Taillibert S, Lejeune J, Laigle-Donadey F, Renard MA, Iraqi W, Idbaih A, Paris S, Capelle L, Duffau H, Cornu P, Simon JM, Mokhtari K, Polivka M, Omuro A, Carpentier A, Sanson M, Delattre JY, Hoang-Xuan K (2007) Temozolomide for low-grade gliomas: predictive impact of 1p/19q loss on response and outcome. Neurology 68(21): 1831–36
- Kamada K, Todo T, Masutani Y, Aoki S, Ino K, Takano T, Kirino T, Kawahara N, Morita A (2005) Combined use of tractography-integrated functional neuronavigation and direct fiber stimulation. J Neurosurg 102(4): 664–72
- Keles GE, Lamborn KR, Berger MS (2001) Low-grade hemispheric gliomas in adults: a critical review of extent of resection as a factor influencing outcome. J Neurosurg 95: 735–45
- Keles GE, Lamborn KR, Berger MS (2003) Coregistration accuracy and detection of brain shift using intraoperative sononavigation during resection of hemispheric tumors. Neurosurgery 53: 556–64
- Keles GE (2004) Intracranial neuronavigation with intraoperative magnetic resonance imaging. Curr Opin Neurol 17: 497–500
- 70. Keles GE, Lundin DA, Lamborn KR, Chang EF, Ojemann G, Berger MS (2004) Intraoperative subcortical stimulation mapping for hemispherical perirolandic gliomas located within or adjacent to the descending motor pathways: evaluation of morbidity and assessment of functional outcome in 294 patients. J Neurosurg 100: 369–75
- 71. Keles GE, Chang EF, Lamborn KR, Tihan T, Chang CJ, Chang SM, Berger MS (2006) Volumetric extent of resection and residual contrast enhancement on initial surgery as predictors of outcome in adult patients with hemispheric anaplastic astrocytoma. J Neurosurg 105(1): 34–40
- 72. Kleihues P, Cavenee W (2000) Pathology and genetics of tumours of the nervous system. In: Kleihues P, Cavenee W (eds) International Agency for Research on Cancer Press, Lyon, France
- 73. Kleihues P, Louis DN, Scheithauer BW, *et al.* (2002) The WHO classification of tumors of the nervous system. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 61: 215–29

- 74. Klein M, Engelberts NH, van der Ploeg HM, Kasteleijn-Nolst Trenite DG, Aaronson NK, Taphoorn MJ, Baaijen H, Vandertop WP, Muller M, Postma TJ, Heimans JJ (2003) Epilepsy in low-grade gliomas: the impact on cognitive function and quality of life. Ann Neurol 54: 514–20
- Klein M, Heimans JJ (2004) The measurement of cognitive functioning in low-grade glioma patients after radiotherapy. J Clin Oncol 22: 966–67
- 76. Klein M, Heimans JJ, Aaronson NK, Postma TJ, Muller M, van der Ploeg HM, Taphoorn MJ (2004) Impaired cognitive functioning in low-grade glioma patients: relationship to tumor localisation, radiotherapy and the use of anticonvulsants. Ned Tijdschr Geneeskd 148: 2175–80
- 77. Kombos T, Suess O, Ciklatekerlio O, Brock M (2001) Monitoring of intraoperative motor evoked potentials to increase the safety of surgery in and around the motor cortex. J Neurosurg 95: 608–14
- Krainik A, Duffau H, Capelle L, Cornu P, Boch AL, Mangin JF, Le Bihan D, Marsault C, Chiras J, Lehericy S (2004) Role of the healthy hemisphere in recovery after resection of the supple-mentary motor area. Neurology 62: 1323–32
- Kuznetsov YE, Caramanos Z, Antel SB, Preul MC, Leblanc R, Villemure JG, Pokrupa R, Olivier A, Sadikot A, Arnold DL (2003) Proton magnetic resonance spectroscopic imaging can predict length of survival in patients with supratentorial gliomas. Neurosurgery 53: 565– 76
- Lang FF, Gilbert MR (2006) Diffusely infiltrative low-grade gliomas in adults. J Clin Oncol 24: 1236–45
- Laws ER, Shaffrey ME, Morris A, Anderson FA Jr (2003) Surgical management of intracranial gliomas-does radical resection improve outcome?. Acta Neurochir Suppl 85: 47–53
- 82. Lehericy S, Duffau H, Cornu P, Capelle L, Pidoux B, Carpentier A, Auliac S, Clemenceau S, Sichez JP, Bitar A, Valery CA, Van Effenterre R, Faillot T, Srour A, Fohanno D, Philippon J, Le Bihan D, Marsault C (2000) Correspondence between functional magnetic resonance imaging somatotopy and individual brain anatomy of the central region: comparison with intraoperative stimulation in patients with brain tumors. J Neurosurg 92: 589–98
- Leighton C, Fisher B, Bauman G, et al. (1997) Supratentorial low-grade glioma in adults: an analysis of prognostic factors and timing of radiation. J Clin Oncol 15: 1294–301
- Lote K, Egeland T, Hager B, Stenwig B, Skullerud K, Berg-Johnsen J, Storm-Mathisen I, Hirschberg H (1997) Survival, prognostic factors, and therapeutic efficacy in low-grade glioma: a retrospective study in 379 patients. J Clin Oncol 15: 3129–40
- Lucas TH, McKhann GM, Ojemann GA (2004) Functional separation of languages in the bilingual brain: a comparison of electrical stimulation language mapping in 25 bilingual patients and 117 monolingual control patients. J Neurosurg 101: 449–57
- Mandonnet E, Delattre JY, Tanguy ML, Swanson KR, Carpentier AF, Duffau H, Cornu P, Van Effenterre R, Alvord EC Jr, Capelle L (2003) Continuous growth of mean tumor diameter in a subset of grade II gliomas. Ann Neurol 53: 524–28
- Mandonnet E, Jbabdi S, Taillandier L, Galanaud D, Benali H, Capelle L, Duffau H (2007) Preoperative estimation of residual volume for WHO grade II glioma resected with intraoperative functional mapping. Neuro Oncol 9(1): 63–69

- Manninen PH, Tan TK (2002) Postoperative nausea and vomiting after craniotomy for tumor surgery: a comparison between awake craniotomy and general anesthesia. J Clin Anesth 14: 279–83
- Mariani L, Siegenthaler P, Guzman R, et al. (2004) The impact of tumour volume and surgery on the outcome of adults with supratentorial WHO grade II astrocytomas and oligoastrocytomas. Acta Neurochir (Wien) 146: 441–48
- Martin C, Alexander E 3rd, Wong T, Schwartz R, Jolesz F, Black PM (1998) Surgical treatment of low-grade gliomas in the intraoperative magnetic resonance imager. Neurosurg Focus 4(4): e8
- McClain CD, Soriano SG, Goumnerova LC, Black PM, Rockoff MA (2007) Detection of unanticipated intracranial hemorrhage during intraoperative magnetic resonance imageguided neurosurgery. Report of two cases. J Neurosurg 106 (5 Suppl): 398–400
- 92. Meyer PT, Sturz L, Schreckenberger M, Spetzger U, Meyer GF, Setani KS, Sabri O, Buell U (2003) Preoperative mapping of cortical language areas in adult brain tumor patients using PET and individual non-normalised SPM analyses. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging 30: 951–60
- 93. Minn H (2005) PET and SPECT in low-grade glioma. Eur J Radiol 56: 171-78
- Mittal S, Black PM (2006) Intraoperative magnetic resonance imaging in neurosurgery: the Brigham concept. Acta Neurochir Suppl 98: 77–86
- Nakamura M, Konishi N, Tsunoda S, Nakase H, Tsuzuki T, Aoki H, Sakitani H, Inui T, Sakaki T (2000) Analysis of prognostic and survival factors related to treatment of lowgrade astrocytomas in adults. Oncology 58: 108–16
- Neuloh G, Schramm J (2004) Motor evoked potential monitoring for the surgery of brain tumours and vascular malformations. Adv Tech Stand Neurosurg 29: 171–228
- 97. Nikas DC, Bello L, Zamani AA, Black PM (1998) Neurosurgical considerations in supratentorial low-grade gliomas: experience with 175 patients. Neurosurg Focus 4(4): e4
- Nimsky C, Ganslandt O, Fahlbusch R (2004) Functional neuronavigation and intraoperative MRI. Adv Tech Stand Neurosurg 29: 229–63
- Nimsky C, Ganslandt O, Hastreiter P, Wang R, Benner T, Sorensen AG, Fahlbusch R (2005) Preoperative and intraoperative diffusion tensor imaging-based fiber tracking in glioma surgery. Neurosurgery 56(1): 130–37; discussion 138
- Nimsky C, Ganslandt O, Hastreiter P, Wang R, Benner T, Sorensen AG, Fahlbusch R (2005) Intraoperative diffusion-tensor MR imaging: shifting of white matter tracts during neurosurgical procedures – initial experience. Radiology 234(1): 218–25
- Nimsky C, Ganslandt O, von Keller B, Fahlbusch R (2006) Intraoperative high-field MRI: anatomical and functional imaging. Acta Neurochir Suppl 98: 87–95
- 102. Nimsky C, Ganslandt O, Fahlbusch R (2006) Implementation of fiber tract navigation. Neurosurgery 58 (4 Suppl 2): ONS-292–303; discussion ONS-303–04
- 103. Ojemann G, Ojemann G, Lettich E, Berger M (1989) Cortical language localization in left, dominant hemisphere. An electrical stimulation mapping investigation in 117 patients. J Neurosurg 71: 316–26
- 104. Pace A, Vidiri A, Galie E, Carosi M, Telera S, Cianciulli AM, Canalini P, Giannarelli D, Jandolo B, Carapella CM (2003) Temozolomide chemotherapy for progressive low-grade glioma: clinical benefits and radiological response. Ann Oncol 14: 1722–26
- 105. Pallud J, Mandonnet E, Duffau H, Kujas M, Guillevin R, Galanaud D, Taillandier L, Capelle L (2006) Prognostic value of initial magnetic resonance imaging growth rates for World Health Organization grade II gliomas. Ann Neurol 60(3): 380–83

- Papagikos MA, Shaw EG, Stiebert VW (2005) Lessons learned from randomised clinical trials in adult low-grade glioma. Lancet Oncol 6: 240–44
- 107. Peraud A, Ansari H, Bise K, Reulen HJ (1998) Clinical outcome of supratentorial astrocytoma WHO grade II. Acta Neurochir (Wien) 140: 1213–22
- 108. Petrovich N, Holodny AI, Tabar V, Correa DD, Hirsch J, Gutin PH, Brennan CW (2005) Discordance between functional magnetic resonance imaging during silent speech tasks and intraoperative speech arrest. J Neurosurg 103: 267–74
- 109. Piepmeier J, Baehring JM (2004) Surgical resection for patients with benign primary brain tumors and low-grade gliomas. J Neurooncol 69: 55–65
- 110. Pignatti F, van den Bent M, Curran D, Debruyne C, Sylvester R, Therasse P, Afra D, Cornu P, Bolla M, Vecht C, Karim AB (2002) European Organization for Research and Treatment of Cancer Brain Tumor Cooperative Group; European Organization for Research and Treatment of Cancer Radiotherapy Cooperative Group: Prognostic factors for survival in adult patients with cerebral low-grade glioma. J Clin Oncol 20: 2076–84
- 111. Quinn JA, Reardon DA, Friedman AH, Rich JN, Sampson JH, Provenzale JM, McLendon RE, Gururangan S, Bigner DD, Herndon JE 2nd, Avgeropoulos N, Finlay J, Tourt-Uhlig S, Affronti ML, Evans B, Stafford-Fox V, Zaknoen S, Friedman HS (2003) Phase II trial of temozolomide in patients with progressive low-grade glioma. J Clin Oncol 21: 646–51
- 112. Rasmussen IA Jr, Lindseth F, Rygh OM, Berntsen EM, Selbekk T, Xu J, Nagelhus Hernes TA, Harg E, Håberg A, Unsgaard G (2007) Functional neuronavigation combined with intra-operative 3D ultrasound: initial experiences during surgical resections close to eloquent brain areas and future directions in automatic brain shift compensation of preoperative data. Acta Neurochir (Wien) 149(4): 365–78
- 113. Reinges MH, Nguyen HH, Krings T, Hutter BO, Rohde V, Gilsbach JM (2004) Course of brain shift during microsurgical resection of supratentorial cerebral lesions: limits of conventional neuronavigation. Acta Neurochir (Wien) 146: 369–77
- Reijneveld JC, Sitskoorn MM, Klein M, Nuyen J, Taphoorn MJ (2001) Cognitive status and quality of life in patients with suspected versus proven low-grade gliomas. Neurology 56: 618–23
- 115. Reithmeier T, Krammer M, Gumprecht H, Gerstner W, Lumenta CB (2003) Neuronavigation combined with electrophysiological monitoring for surgery of lesions in eloquent brain areas in 42 cases: a retrospective comparison of the neurological outcome and the quality of resection with a control group with similar lesions. Minim Invasive Neurosurg 46: 65–71
- 116. Ricard D, Kaloshi G, Amiel-Benouaich A, Lejeune J, Marie Y, Mandonnet E, Kujas M, Mokhtari K, Taillibert S, Laigle-Donadey F, Carpentier AF, Omuro A, Capelle L, Duffau H, Cornu P, Guillevin R, Sanson M, Hoang-Xuan K, Delattre JY (2007) Dynamic history of low-grade gliomas before and after temozolomide treatment. Ann Neurol 61(5): 484–90
- 117. Romstock J, Fahlbusch R, Ganslandt O, Nimsky C, Strauss C (2002) Localisation of the sensorimotor cortex during surgery for brain tumours: feasibility and waveform patterns of somatosensory evoked potentials. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 72: 221–29
- Rostomily RC, Keles GE, Berger MS (1996) Radical surgery in the management of lowgrade and high-grade gliomas. Baillieres Clin Neurol 5: 345–69

- 119. Roux FE, Boulanouar K, Ibarrola D, Tremoulet M, Chollet F, Berry I (2000) Functional MRI and intraoperative brain mapping to evaluate brain plasticity in patients with brain tumours and hemiparesis. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 69: 453–63
- Roux FE, Tremoulet M (2002) Organization of language areas in bilingual patients: a cortical stimulation study. J Neurosurg 97: 857–64
- 121. Roux FE, Boulanouar K, Lotterie JA, Mejdoubi M, LeSage JP, Berry I (2003) Language functional magnetic resonance imaging in preoperative assessment of language areas: correlation with direct cortical stimulation. Neurosurgery 52: 1335–45
- Roux FE, Boetto S, Sacko O, Chollet F, Tremoulet M (2003) Writing, calculating, and finger recognition in the region of the angular gyrus: a cortical stimulation study of Gerstmann syndrome. J Neurosurg 99: 716–27
- 123. Roux FE, Lubrano V, Lauwers-Cances V, Tremoulet M, Mascott CR, Demonet JF (2004) Intra-operative mapping of cortical areas involved in reading in mono- and bilingual patients. Brain 127: 1796–1810
- 124. Rutten GJ, Ramsey NF, van Rijen PC, Noordmans HJ, van Veelen CW (2002) Development of a functional magnetic resonance imaging protocol for intraoperative localization of critical temporoparietal language areas. Ann Neurol 51: 350–60
- 125. Rutten GJ, Ramsey N, Noordmans HJ, Willems P, van Rijen P, van der Berkelbach Sprenkel JW, Viergever M, van Veelen C (2003) Toward functional neuronavigation: implementation of functional magnetic resonance imaging data in a surgical guidance system for intraoperative identification of motor and language cortices. Technical note and illustrative case. Neurosurg Focus 15: E6
- 126. Sanai N, Berger MS (2008) Glioma extent of resection and its impact on patient outcome. Neurosurgery 62(4): 753–64; discussion 264–66 (Review)
- 127. Sarang A, Dinsmore J (2003) Anesthesia for awake craniotomy evolution of a technique that facilitates awake neurological testing. Br J Anaesth 90: 161–65
- Schmidt MH, Berger MS, Lamborn KR, Aldape K, McDermott MW, Prados MD, Chang SM (2003) Repeated operations for infiltrative low-grade gliomas without intervening therapy. J Neurosurg 98(6): 1165–69
- 129. Smith JS, Perry A, Borell TJ, Lee HK, O'Fallon J, Hosek SM, Kimmel D, Yates A, Burger PC, Scheithauer BW, Jenkins RB (2000) Alterations of chromosome arms 1p and 19q as predictors of survival in oligodendrogliomas, astrocytomas, and mixed oligoastrocytomas. J Clin Oncol 18: 636–45
- Smith JS, Chang EF, Lamborn KR, Chang SM, Prados MD, Cha S, Tihan T, Vandenberg S, McDermott MW, Berger MS (2008) Role of extent of resection in the long-term outcome of low-grade hemispheric gliomas. J Clin Oncol 26(8): 1338–45
- Stupp R, Janzer RC, Hegi ME, Villemure JG, Mirimanoff RO (2003) Prognostic factors for low-grade gliomas. Semin Oncol 30: 23–28
- 132. Talos IF, Zou KH, Ohno-Machado L, Bhagwat JG, Kikinis R, Black PM, Jolesz FA (2006) Supratentorial low-grade glioma resectability: statistical predictive analysis based on anatomic MR features and tumor characteristics. Radiology 239(2): 506–13
- Taphoorn MJ (2003) Neurocognitive sequelae in the treatment of low-grade gliomas. Semin Oncol 30: 45–48
- 134. Van den Bent MJ, Looijenga LH, Langenberg K, Dinjens W, Graveland W, Uytdewilligen L, Sillevis Smitt PA, Jenkins RB, Kros JM (2003) Chromosomal anomalies in oligodendroglial tumors are correlated with clinical features. Cancer 97: 1276–84

- 135. van Veelen ML, Avezaat CJ, Kros JM, et al. (1998) Supratentorial low grade astrocytoma: prognostic factors, dedifferentiation, and the issue of early versus late surgery. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 64: 581–87
- Vlieger EJ, Majoie CB, Leenstra S, den Heeten GJ (2004) Functional magnetic resonance imaging for neurosurgical planning in neurooncology. Eur Radiol 14: 1143–53
- Whittle IR, Midgley S, Georges H, Pringle AM, Taylor R (2005) Patient perceptions of "awake" brain tumour surgery. Acta Neurochir (Wien) 147: 275–277
- Yingling CD, Ojemann S, Dodson B, Harrington MJ, Berger MS (1999) Identification of motor pathways during tumor surgery facilitated by multichannel electromyographic recording. J Neurosurg 91: 922–27